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DAY 1 – 13 JANUARY 2016 

 

  [10.03 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.  We will just record appearances.  Ms Scott, you are 5 

with Ms Meares for the Council? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, good morning, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Silcock, you are for the Crown? 10 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Steven, you are for Grassmere Street Residents and? 

 15 

MS STEVEN:   Grants Road Holdings Limited, yes, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Hughes-Johnson, you are for Case and Son? 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Thank you, sir. 20 

 

SJH:   And, Mr Chapman, you are for Crozier? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes, that is correct, sir. 

 25 

SJH:   All right, thank you.  Are there any lay submitters not represented here?  

All right, well, just a preliminary point, which may or may not save 

some time, as I understand it both in the mediation and the other 

documentation it was agreed that there needed to be a change in the 

RPS for us to have authority to make this zoning, that is the position of 30 

all the parties, is it?  Because that is what the signed document says. 

 

MS SCOTT:   That is the position of the Council, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Steven? 35 

 

MS STEVEN:   Yes, with a qualification.  I was intending to present a case for 

a deferred zoning but otherwise the Council’s position on an immediate 

zoning is accepted, it is not disputed by my client. 

 40 

SJH:   Mr Hughes-Johnson? 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes, that is the position.  It was the position at the 

time and since that time other submitters have raised the issue of the 

question of the giving effect to argument. I mentioned that in my 45 

submissions. 
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SJH:   Well, I am not dealing at the moment with the deferred just that for us to 

give a rezoning there needed to be a change to the RPS, that is what 

everybody signed up to. 

 5 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes, that is right. 

 

SJH:   I am just making sure no one has resiled from what they signed up to 

that is all.  Mr Chapman? 

 10 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes, sir, that is the position. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you.  Well, we will proceed straight to your opening – 

sorry, there is a declaration.  It is already on the website to a more 

limited extent but Mr Daysh just wants to expand on a point due to 15 

some exhibits to Mr Mitchell’s affidavit. 

 

  [10.05 am] 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you.  So I note some emails attached to Mr Mitchell’s 20 

evidence from Mr Paul Thomas who is a fellow director of mine at 

Environmental Management Services based in Wellington.  At the time 

Mr Thomas was project leader for CERA in relation to the approval 

process for the Land Use Recovery Plan.  I have had no involvement 

with Christchurch issues personally prior to my appointment to the 25 

Panel and have not discussed any issues associated with the previous 

roles with Mr Thomas.  My company Environmental Management 

Services operates separate offices and business units with me being 

based on Hawke’s Bay and Mr Thomas being based in Wellington. 

 30 

SJH:   All right, thank you.  Does anyone have any issue because we are going 

to have a quorum if that is the case? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   No, sir. 

 35 

MS SCOTT:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   All right, we can record that no issue is taken.  All right, thank you very 

much for that.  All right, Ms Scott, we will go to your opening. 

 40 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir, good morning and happy New Year to you all.  I 

have filed some brief legal submissions with you and with your leave, 

sir, I just intend to take you to some of the key points.  You have 

already raised one legal issue which is whether a rezoning to residential 

can in fact be granted by the Panel and I set that out at paragraph 2.1. 45 
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 There are limited submitters to this proposal to this hearing and we 

have outlined them in section 3 of my legal submissions and in 

summary Council doesn’t support the rezoning because of the higher 

order policy impediment in chapter 6 of the RPS.  All issues on the 

merits of the rezonings of the three areas of land are agreed between 5 

the Council’s witnesses and the three submitters.  And I just wish to 

note there is a residual matter relating to access to the Case land 

although overall it is Council’s position that that area of disagreement 

doesn’t prevent the rezoning in terms of the merits.  But overall in the 

absence of an outcome of change to the RPS it is submitted that the 10 

Panel’s hands are in essence tied. 

 

 Sir, in section 4 of my legal submissions I set out the background to the 

Cranford Basin land.  I have in an earlier hearing taken you through 

some of this information in detail, particularly to do with the appeals on 15 

proposed change 1 of PC1, and that flows through to the draft Land 

Use Recovery Plan and then the final gazetted Land Use Recovery 

Plan. 

 

 With your leave I will take that section as read unless you have some 20 

particular questions. 

 

SJH:   We will take it as read but the Council are now saying that on the review 

of the LURP they recommended the rezoning of this area.  What was 

their recommendation or what was their position when the LURP was 25 

originally discussed and developed? 

 

MS SCOTT:  It is a matter of timing, sir, and when the LURP was being 

developed there still wasn’t any certainty as to the area of land required 

for the stormwater detention designation that sits around the outside of 30 

the roading works. 

 

SJH:   So the short answer is the Council did not support it at that time? 

 

MS SCOTT:   That is correct and since that time there has been further analysis 35 

and investigations, the designations have been confirmed. 

 

SJH:   All right, well, what stage has the review reached, is that better put to 

Ms Silcock or? 

 40 

MS SCOTT:   Probably best is my understanding is that a decision is possibly 

coming after the first quarter but there is no certainty. 

 

SJH:   Sorry, after the? 

 45 
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MS SCOTT:   First quarter of this year so after March but Ms Silcock might be 

able to provide some more certainty on that. 

 

SJH:   All right.   

 5 

MS SCOTT:   Just at paragraph 4.4, at the pre-hearing conference the appeals 

on those two designations were mentioned I just wish to update you on 

those.  There are three appeals in the Environment Court and consent 

memoranda have been filed with the Court settling those appeals. 

 10 

 In section 5, sir, I just summarise the earlier legal submissions that have 

been filed, they are adopted and I don’t intend to repeat them here this 

morning.  I wish to just to turn to the legal submissions for Mr and 

Mrs Crozier that have been filed by my friend Mr Chapman and just 

respond to a couple of points in there.  Those submissions propose 15 

three options in terms of the Panel’s decision making. 

 

  [10.10 am] 

 

 The first is essentially that the Panel applies the urban limits in a 20 

practical way and takes a pragmatic approach to the rezoning of the 

Cranford Basin land. 

 

SJH:   Well, that seems to me to be contrary to what Mr Chapman has 

confirmed today that there is a need for the RPS to be changed before 25 

we can rezone? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Chapman will come to that no doubt in due course but he has 30 

confirmed that his client does not resile from that position. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, sir, and it seems to me that that submission is asking the 

Panel to ignore its statutory duties to give effect to the RPS and of 

course not be inconsistent with the LURP. 35 

 

 The second option is the ability for submitters to lodge memoranda 

should updates on the LURP occur.  I just wish to record that a similar 

request was made to you prior to the pre-hearing meeting for residential 

stage 2, so you have had this request before you, and in terms of the 40 

Council’s position on that the release and the timing of the Panel’s 

decisions is really in your hands, sir, and we don’t take a view on that 

request. 

 

 Finally, the issue of deferred zoning.  This is addressed in 45 

Mr Thomson’s evidence for the Council and it is specifically included 
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in the Grassmere Street submission only as an alternative relief.  

Council’s position is that a deferred zoning still does not give effect to 

the RPS.  It is submitted to be contrary to the current avoidance 

objectives and policy because it infers that the rural zoning will be 

lifted and a residential zoning will come in place.   5 

 

 It is submitted that there is uncertainty as to what change to the RPS is 

required.  No specific wording as to what the trigger is in terms of that 

change has been provided by the Croziers.  There is no certainty as to 

whether and what change will eventuate through the LURP review.  10 

For example, the outcome might be a change to the Land Use Recovery 

Plan to make map A in that document indicative only.  And then that 

would mean that a change to the RPS then still needs to be pursued 

separately under the RMA. 

 15 

 A second alternative might be that the Minister as well as amending the 

LURP might also direct a change to chapter 6 but there is no certainty 

as to whether that will be to the objectives and policies or to map A.  

So in the Council’s position there is no certainty or transparency in 

terms of what a trigger for a deferred zoning would be as sought in 20 

those legal submissions, sir. 

 

 And finally, just on that point, I haven’t found any case law that allows 

for a provision sitting in a district plan that is at odds with the higher 

order policy direction and that is dependent on a change to that higher 25 

order document. 

 

SJH:   So did you say there was authority for that? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, I haven’t been able to find any authority, sir, and there is no 30 

authority set out in those legal submissions either. 

 

 So finally, sir, just in my submissions I summarise the position for each 

of the three submitters.  As already mentioned there is no dispute on the 

merits, there are some differences in terms of access which will be 35 

covered in cross-examination just to clarify views but ultimately that is 

a matter for subdivision.   

 

 And, just on that note, I have had a brief opportunity to consider the 

subdivision decision and this will be covered by Mr Wright but he does 40 

include in his evidence some objectives and policies from the Council’s 

final position that have largely come across into the decision but there 

are some changes in terms of wording but the message is the same. 
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 Sir, unless you have any specific questions Mr Thomson and 

Mr Wright are here today and the Council’s other witnesses have been 

excused from attending. 

 

SJH:   All right, I am just wondering from the submitters’ perspective if it 5 

would be useful before we proceeded with the evidence to have 

Ms Silcock update us as to the position of the review and what the 

current state is, would that be useful do you think? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, sir, thank you. 10 

 

  [10.15 am] 

 

SJH:   All right. 

 15 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you, sir, unfortunately I am not able to provide any 

further details other than what Ms Scott has already addressed the 

Panel on.  A report was provided to the Minister on 24 September and 

that report is being considered by the Minister. 

 20 

SJH:   Sorry, on 24 September? 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   And is that a public document? 25 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Yes, it is, sir, I do have some spare copies if you would like 

me to hand those up. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Well, I think the important thing then would be to highlight 30 

to us is there any recommended changes for this land in that report? 

 

MS SILCOCK:   There is no specific changes, sir, in relation to this particular 

parcel of land but there are some recommendations relating - - - 

 35 

SJH:   I am sorry I didn’t hear the first bit. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Apologies, sir.  No specific recommendations in relation to 

this land but it does make some recommendations about the map A 

issue and those are outlined in my friend Mr Chapman’s submissions.  40 

Sir, I will of course update the Hearings Panel if I can provide any 

further information at the close of this hearing. 

 

SJH:   So you don’t have any indication of the date for the Minister’s decision? 

 45 

MS SILCOCK:   No, unfortunately I don’t, sir. 
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SJH:   Okay, thank you, we will proceed with the evidence then. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you, sir. 

 5 

MR CHAPMAN:  Sir, just on that issue, attached to my submissions is an 

appendix which is just an email exchange with the Minister’s office 

where I know that it is only a secretary responding, sir, that says that “It 

will likely be at least towards the end of the first quarter of 2016”.  I am 

not sure whether the “at least” means more than the first quarter or just 10 

confirming that it is within the first quarter but that is the most recent 

update that we have had. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Yes, if you would call Mr Thomson, please. 

 15 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir.   
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<IVAN THOMSON, affirmed [10.17 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [10.17 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Good morning, if you confirm your full name is Ivan Thomson? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, that is correct. 5 

 

MS SCOTT:   And you have prepared two statements of evidence, the first in-

chief dated 10 December 2015, the second in rebuttal dated 

21 December 2015? 

 10 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   You have the qualifications and experience which are set out in 

the evidence you provided on the definitions proposal? 

 15 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, I do. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Do you have any corrections you wish to make to your 

evidence? 

 20 

MR THOMSON:   No substantive corrections, sir, but there are unfortunately 

one or two corrections of an editorial nature I should make for the 

record.  On paragraph 1.6 clearly the cross-references to the 

attachment B are incorrect, in B it should be B1, B2, B3 so I apologise 

for that. 25 

 

 In paragraph 6.1 I would like to make a clarification and in the second 

paragraph where it says “All the parties did however agree that a 

residential zoning or deferred residential zoning would not be giving 

effect to the RPS”, I think when I look at the notes of the mediation I 30 

would prefer to cross out the words “or deferred residential zoning” 

because it is not clear from the minutes, it doesn’t actually specify 

separately deferred residential zoning, it just says any zoning would be 

contrary. So I think to be safe and given that there will be legal 

submissions I will delete that from my evidence. 35 

 

 Paragraph 7.11, down the last two lines, rather than a new sentence 

where it starts “Although” that should be a comma and a small “a”, that 

is one sentence and it would clarify that. 

 40 

 And finally, sir, in paragraph 9.23, it refers to the Council’s submission 

as 3723.894, now that should be 904. 

 

  [10.20 am] 

 45 

MR DAYSH:   Sorry, which paragraph, Mr Thomson? 
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MR THOMSON:  9.23.  The Council’s submission No 3723.904.  Now the 

reason for that is the website has not been updated following a slight 

change to our database in updating there.  The right submission number 

is 904, that is the submission number that refers to the planning 5 

maps 24, 25. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  With those four corrections can you confirm that 

your evidence is true and correct to the best of your knowledge? 

 10 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  If you could present a brief highlights package of 

your evidence and then remain seated for cross-examination and 

questions from the Panel. 15 

 

MR THOMSON:  Thank you.  My evidence comprises four main elements.  

Firstly, I address the relevance of the higher order policy direction in 

chapter 6 of the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement that means I am 

unable to recommend acceptance of those submissions seeking 20 

residential zoning of the land outside of the existing urban area or 

greenfield priority area as shown on map A in chapter 6.   

 

 The Land Use Recovery Plan and the Canterbury Regional Policy 

Statement are clear that the Council is to ensure that new development 25 

activities in greater Christchurch only occur within the existing urban 

areas or identified greenfield priority areas shown in map A.  In my 

opinion this also applies to submissions seeking a deferred urban 

zoning. 

 30 

 Secondly, I have acknowledged in my evidence that in other resource 

management respects residential development around the edge of the 

undeveloped parts of Cranford Basin does have resource management 

merit although noting that the submissions seeking rezoning do not 

cover all of the residual land outside of the roading and stormwater 35 

designations.  Development constraints that have historically prevented 

residential development have been removed or can be shown to be 

satisfactorily mitigated since the LURP and chapter 6 of the RPS 

coming into effect.  This particularly applies to transport, wastewater 

and flooding. 40 

 

 The third element of my evidence concerns site specific issues and in 

particular those affecting the Case family property.  This site is 

constrained by flood hazard areas and access and one outcome of 

mediation was an agreement that the site can only be developed for up 45 

to nine additional lots to reflect these constraints.   
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 From reading the expert transport evidence and taking a broader 

resource management perspective, I expressed the opinion as a planner 

that the purpose of the Act could be achieved through providing some 

access from Frome Place, and I say three, perhaps four lots, and some 5 

from Cranford Street. 

 

 The number to be serviced from Cranford Street is a matter to be 

determined by expert traffic evidence, but it appears to me from the 

experts’ evidence that access could roughly be split between Frome 10 

Place and possibly Cranford Street, subject to satisfactory intersection 

design treatment being available on Cranford Street. 

 

 In essence, and expressing my opinion as a planner, the site access and 

layout will depend on what level of access is acceptable from Cranford 15 

Street, and is a matter to be considered at a subdivision stage.  It could 

well be that to obtain nine lots will involve access from the Croziers’ 

property, but I am not qualified to be any more specific than that. 

 

 As a fourth element, and for completion of the merits assessment, I 20 

suggest some provisions including basic outline development plans that 

would assist in achieving integration between land use, transport and 

stormwater detention, ensuring that the geotechnical constraints raised 

in expert evidence can be mitigated, and that the designated roading 

networks are completed prior to any development.   25 

 

 Overall, however, the submissions are rejected because of the higher 

order policy impediment to rezoning.   

 

 Thank you. 30 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Chapman? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CHAPMAN [10.24 am] 

 35 

MR CHAPMAN:   Good morning, Mr Thomson. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Good morning.   

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Just some practical things for a moment with you.  When 40 

you are driving down Cranford Street you turn into McFaddens Road 

and then turn into Croziers Road, you would accept that you are not on 

the periphery of Christchurch urban land at that point, would you not? 

 

  [10.25 am] 45 
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MR THOMSON:   Well you are not right at the urban boundary.  So I would 

accept that you are near the urban boundary but you are not right on the 

periphery. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   So this land is not outside of the urban boundary?  When 5 

that word is used, “outside”, is it? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Well it is outside the urban boundary as delineated in the 

RPS.   

 10 

MR CHAPMAN:   Would that pocket that – just looking at the history of it just 

for a moment in relation to the merits of it – the pocket that is created 

around this Cranford Basin was really done for the purpose as you have 

alluded to in your summary for stormwater and roading purposes 

primarily rather than it being on the periphery of urban Christchurch.  It 15 

is done for the former reason, not the latter, wasn’t it? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Sir, I just need to get some clarification on that question –

you are asking me how has that line come to be there? 

 20 

MR CHAPMAN:   Mm’hm. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   So the ring-fencing of the area. 25 

 

MR THOMSON:   That is correct.  That line was put in place as part of the 

Operative City Plan back in 1999 and it was excluded because of those 

constraints I have mentioned, specifically access, wastewater treatment, 

ground conditions and flooding, and ever since those constraints have 30 

been in place until now.  But more recently of course the access issues 

have been resolved through the northern arterial extension designation, 

the stormwater issues have been resolved through the stormwater 

ponding designation, and the expert wastewater engineer from the 

Council is satisfied that the wastewater issue can be resolved and the 35 

geotechnical experts have agreed that the geotechnical conditions there 

are not an impediment to residential development.  So those constraints 

have been removed. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   So you would accept that we really, all in the room, are 40 

scratching our heads about the RPS and how one - - - 

 

SJH:   Well no, we are not scratching our heads about it.  You have accepted 

the position. 

 45 
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MR CHAPMAN:   I have, sir.  If you just wait for a moment.  So in terms of 

the position which all parties take with respect to the RPS, you would 

accept from a planning point of view we are in a chicken and egg 

situation here at the moment?  Something has got to change first?   

 5 

MR THOMSON:   Yes.  And that is the LURP has to change first.   

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes. 

 

MR THOMSON:   And then the RPS needs to follow to be consistent with the 10 

LURP.   

 

MR CHAPMAN:   So if we went down the proposal in terms of the RPS was 

the block on this, and then the RPS changed later, what would the 

Croziers then have to do to change the zoning on their land? 15 

 

MR THOMSON:   There would be two options.  The first option is for the 

Council to initiate a plan change to give effect to any changes the RPS 

may promote.  Or the Croziers could lodge a private plan change.  Or 

possibly they may even lodge a resource consent.  So I guess those 20 

options are all open should the RPS boundary change. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And you would accept that given the option that I have 

floated about a deferred zoning in relation to this proposal, that would 

be a far simpler, cheaper, and more practical method of reflecting a 25 

change in the RPS if that were to occur? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Well, as I say in my evidence, I am not in agreement that a 

deferred zoning would be giving effect to the RPS.  I think, sir, this 

could be a matter of legal submission more than planning evidence - - -  30 

 

SJH:   Yes. 

 

MR THOMSON:   - - - but I have said that quite clearly I think the reasons 

why I don’t think a deferred zoning is an option here.   35 

 

  [10.30 am] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Okay.  So just as a planner, I am going to talk to you about 

what the RPS controls and what it doesn’t.  So if you look at map A, 40 

which is attached to chapter 6 of the RPS, it is up on the board there.   

 

MR THOMSON:   Okay. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   You would accept that that controls activities, if you like, 45 

that are going to occur within the various coloured areas? 
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MR THOMSON:   Yes.   

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And you would accept also that the RPS, particularly in 

terms of policy 6.3.1 and objective 6.2.1, that it is absolutely silent on 5 

the methods used to control activities, the planning methods that you 

could, in your toolbox? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes.  There is no specific way in which, other than through 

the administration of the district plan that, so “investigate and 10 

implement methods in district plan for promoting development and 

enhancement of activity centres” is the only thing that really specifies 

in that particular policy.   

 

MR CHAPMAN:   The objectives and the policies are all activity focused, 15 

aren’t they? 

 

MR THOMSON:   I am not sure that I would agree with that.   

 

MR CHAPMAN:   That is 6.2.1 – if you look at that policy 3, subparagraph 3, 20 

it is about avoiding urban development outside of existing urban areas 

or greenfield priority areas, unless expressly provided for in the RPS.   

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 25 

MR CHAPMAN:   That is about controlling urban activities outside an area, 

isn’t it? 

 

MR THOMSON:   That is correct.  But the other side of that, it also controls 

rural activities in the areas outside the urban limits.  So it is two sides to 30 

the same coin.  So you can only have rural activities in a rural area, and 

urban activities in the urban.  Well, you don’t have to have urban 

activities, but urban activities have to be confined within the existing 

urban area or greenfield priority areas.   

 35 

MR CHAPMAN:   So, but you would accept that zoning, and a deferred 

zoning, is not an activity in itself, it is a method that a Council can use 

to prescribe, from time to time, what activities can occur? 

 

MR THOMSON:   I accept that to a point, but the reason for the method is to 40 

provide for an urban activity.  So I guess by implication it would be 

contrary to the RPS.  And the reason for that, as I say in my evidence, 

is that that deferred zoning has to be reflected on our district planning 

maps, and that puts the district planning map in conflict with map A.  

And I see that as an issue. 45 
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MR CHAPMAN:   Well let me be more specific, if you are referring to the 

chapter 6 of the RPS, what specific policies and objectives do you say 

limit planning methods? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Well, policies and objectives do not limit planning methods. 5 

The methods are prescribed separately and I need to go back and have a 

look at the clause and whether those methods are all inclusive. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   So the method in isolation is not inconsistent with the RPS, 

is it? 10 

 

SJH:   Well that again is a matter of legal submission. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, thank you, sir. 

 15 

MR CHAPMAN:   Well, sir, this witness is a planner and planners do have 

toolboxes of things that are available. 

 

MR THOMSON:  Well if I could perhaps answer as a planner, sir, the 

implementation of policies and objectives, I think it is artificial to 20 

separate implementation from the policies and objectives themselves.  

So if implementing a policy, if implementation through a method is 

going to be contrary to an objective or policy, then that implementation 

tool is therefore inappropriate. 

 25 

  [10.35 am] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Just turning to my other option in relation to resolving this 

chicken and egg situation in terms of waiting on the hope – I should 

supposedly use that word – that the minister makes a decision which is 30 

favourable in the ways that have been outlined by Ms Scott, would you 

support that approach of waiting, getting updates in terms of then 

allowing the merits argument to be run for this land to pass through 

into an urban zoning? 

 35 

MR THOMSON:   I think that is a matter for the Panel to determine actually.  

It is not - - - 

 

SJH:   How long do you think we are going to stay in existence for?  On the 

never-never, Mr Chapman? 40 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   No, not in the never-never, sir, I am not suggesting the 

never-never, I am saying that we have got an indication - - - 

 

SJH:   Well you have already had to get an extension for various reasons, but 45 

we are a finite body. 
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MR CHAPMAN:   Yes, you are a finite piece, sir, but on the latest indications 

that we have had, it is within those, within the timelines of your 

function. 

 5 

SJH:   Well potentially, but is that a sound basis to do something, to simply 

adjourn a hearing? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Well it may be more just the release of the decision, sir.  I 

think it is a sound basis if it results in a practical outcome. 10 

 

MR THOMSON:   Well my answer is that there are too many uncertainties.  

We do not know what the minister is going to do, we do not know what 

the Regional Council is going to do, we do not even know really what 

the Council would do in response to that, and/or what the process is by 15 

which those events take place.  Sir, I just if I may answer, it is just there 

are too many uncertainties, but again I would go back to really it is a 

decision for the Panel to make. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Lastly, just in relation to the deferred zoning, you would 20 

accept that if the trigger for the deferral is not lifted the policies and 

objectives applying to the Rural Urban Fringe Zone would be of full 

force and effect in relation to this land? 

 

MR THOMSON:   So you are asking me if we had a deferred zone and it was 25 

not listed - - -  

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes. 

 

MR THOMSON:   - - - then there would still be rural rules that would apply.  30 

That is normally what would happen in the areas where I have applied 

a deferred zoning.  Yes, that the rural rules would still apply but that 

would depend on what provisions were put into place and I would not 

want to speculate but that is normally the case. 

 35 

MR CHAPMAN:   Thank you, no further questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you, Mr Thomson.  As you are the sole planner 40 

giving evidence I would like to ask you a few questions about both the 

background to your evidence and some specific questions.  So the first 

question is quite a general question, it is about why have you 

considered the appropriateness or the merits of the rezoning request 

despite your evidence to us that we have no power to grant the request 45 

due to the status of the higher level policy documents? 
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MR THOMSON:   For two reasons. Firstly the submitters did as part of their 

submission, to the varying degrees, put up merits, reasons, and I 

thought I should really respond to those.  Secondly the Council as part 

of the LURP review and in fact as part of the proposal it submitted to 5 

the minister, sought that the Cranford Basin be included within the 

urban limits for rezoning, and there were merits, arguments supporting 

that. 

 

 So I thought it would be helpful to the Panel and to the parties that I 10 

actually address those merits issues, for those two reasons. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right.  You say in your evidence, I think it is in section 8, 

that you are the author of the section 32 report which you have not 

attached with the evidence but we have had a look at.  That is quite a 15 

significant document, it has got about 10 appendices.  The Council has 

put a lot of work and time and effort into the infrastructure and 

planning issues associated with this area.  Was that done prior to or 

after the Council’s original submission on the LURP? 

 20 

MR THOMSON:   That was done in support of the stage 3 proposal that was 

submitted to the minister. So that was done in preparation for that in the 

early to mid-part of 2015. 

 

  [10.40 am] 25 

 

MR DAYSH:   But the minister did not accept that? 

 

MR THOMSON:   The minister did not accept the Council’s proposal for the 

reasons that have already been made clear.  It is contrary to the RPS 30 

and contrary to the LURP. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right.  So there is a review going on to the LURP, as we 

have heard.  I have just seen this document from the Regional Council 

which has been handed to us just this morning by Ms Silcock.  What 35 

was the position of the Christchurch City Council on this land in 

relation to the review of the LURP? 

 

MR THOMSON:   The Council I think actively supports the proposed rezoning 

in that area as part of the LURP review.  I think that is my recollection. 40 

 

MR DAYSH:   And is that in front of the minister in a formal request? 

 

MR THOMSON:   I am not entirely sure whether it is.  I do not know if it is a 

formal request or not.  I have not been too involved in that review 45 
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process.  But my understanding is the Cranford Basin was one of those 

areas which we sought a rezoning as part of the LURP review. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So you cannot help us with that, perhaps Council might be able 

to provide an answer to us later on because it seems that there has been 5 

a lot of work and effort put into justifying this area as a suitable area 

for rezoning. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes.   

 10 

MR DAYSH:   And in the review, if that is the Council’s position, I would just 

like some clarification. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Sure, and I can say it is the Council’s position that this area 

should be set aside for residential purposes.  I think that is a position 15 

that has been expressed publicly and through the LURP review 

submission, and for the reasons set out in the section 32 report.  So 

clearly it made that submission to the minister as part of submitting 

proposal 3.  So yes, the Council is in support. 

 20 

MR DAYSH:   All right, thank you.  A couple of very specific issues.  Can you 

look at paragraph 4.1 of your evidence?  The last sentence where you 

say, “in my opinion it represents an anomaly”, well what is “it”? 

 

MR THOMSON:   I am sorry, the Cranford Basin area. 25 

 

MR DAYSH:   An anomaly that it should be part of the urban form of 

Christchurch City, that is your evidence? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Well, yes, what I am saying there is that even going back to 30 

the operative plan, had there not been the constraints along the lines I 

have listed.  Then even back then it may well have been rezoned, we 

had submissions seeking rezoning it back in 1995, I was reporting 

planner for that.   

 35 

 There are reasons why that hold is there.  But in saying that in terms of 

many of the policies in the RPS it fits quite well with those policies.  

Particularly around urban consolidation. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right, thank you.  Attachment C of your evidence, there are 40 

two, they are titled Agreed Provisions and Possible ODPs, so ODPs 

stand for Outline Development Plans, is that right? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, yes. 

 45 

MR DAYSH:   So who are these agreed with? 
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MR THOMSON:   Some of those come out, well mediation.  So at mediation 

we agreed for example for the Croziers to lay off a section which 

would enable future access to the Cases.  Now that was offered on their 

part as I recall, there is no obligation for that section not to be sold 5 

sometime in the future but it provides an opportunity to provide either 

vehicle access or pedestrian access between the Cases and the Croziers 

should one or other parties acquire that land.   

 

 So that is reflected on the ODP and that was out of the agreement. 10 

 

  [10.45 am] 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay.  So they are not agreed in any form, you are providing 

this as something to us over and above the fact that they were talked 15 

about in a mediation? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Most of these were – those two bullet points were discussed 

- - -  

 20 

MR DAYSH:   So it is actually the plan that, attachment C there are two plans 

which we are talking to Mr Thomson about, which?  So it probably is 

the first one, let us just look at that.  And at the top of the plan you can 

actually see the agreed outcomes.  I am just trying to find out what the 

status of these plans are.   25 

 

MR THOMSON:   They do not have any statutory status.  They are partly out 

of the agreed outcomes, they are part of that informal mediation I have 

had with, for example the planner - - -  

 30 

SJH:   Well simply, is this agreed between the Council and the submitters Mr 

Thomson?  I think that is the point of the question.  

 

MR THOMSON:   Certainly, yes, I think yes they are.  Certainly the second 

bullet point is, the Outline Development Plan, similar to those below. 35 

 

SJH:   So this one in front of us for example has been agreed between the 

Council and the relevant submitters? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Not explicitly I would have to say sir, but it is - - -  40 

 

SJH:   Well either it is agreed or not agreed Mr Thomson. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 45 

SJH:   It is not going to be a happy new year - - - - 
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MR THOMSON:   No, I cannot say they have been entirely agreed at 

mediation. 

 

SJH:   So there is still some detail to work through? 5 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, there is. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And there is a second plan as well, if we could bring that up.  

So again that is in the same position, that is not agreed as between the 10 

Council and the submitters? 

 

MR THOMSON:   No, the only agreed part is the potential section to be left 

vacant until at least 2020.   

 15 

MR DAYSH:   All right, let us move on then.  I just want to ask you about this 

deferment concept, some questions about that.  Now you do address it 

and you give two reasons in your paragraph 9.2. Could you just 

summarise again the main reasons why you do not support the deferred 

zoning? 20 

 

MR THOMSON:   The main reason is because a deferred zone would need to 

be put onto our district planning map and therefore that would make the 

planning map inconsistent, or not give effect to the regional planning 

map.  But I think the other reason, which is just as important, is that it 25 

is presupposing that the RPS will change.  And I have got no, there is 

no policy direction that I am aware of from the Regional Council that 

they will change the RPS.   

 

 I mean the Council may well be supportive of a residential zone here 30 

but I mean the Regional Council is not here that I am aware of, but 

there is no indication that I am aware of that they are prepared to 

change the RPS.   

 

 The other thing to keep in mind is that there are quite a large number of 35 

these areas around the city which are outside of the urban limits, which 

have been heard by one or other of the Panels, that may have merit as 

well.  So I think if these are to be deferred or to be reflected there may 

be other ways of doing it.  But certainly I do not support a deferred 

zoning for this area.   40 

 

MR DAYSH:   Just on the ability to change the RPS you would agree that the 

Council itself could request a change to the RPS? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes it could, under section 60 of the RMA it could. 45 
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MR DAYSH:   Under schedule 1, clause 21, where it says “any minister of the 

Crown or any territory authority in a region may request a change to a 

policy statement”. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 5 

 

  [10.50 am] 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you. So have you read Mr Chapman’s opening 

submissions which have been referred to already regarding the reasons 10 

why he thinks that a deferred zoning is appropriate? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Look, I have only skimmed them, I have not had a chance 

to read those submissions in detail.  But I have heard him present his 

submission.  But I have not actually - - -  15 

 

MR DAYSH:   So as a planner, and I am asking this a bit out of order because I 

need to, where Mr Chapman says, 24.1 of his opening submission, 

“therefore there is no inconsistency with the CRPS as the extension 

beyond the urban limit would not apply until such an extension was 20 

permitted within the CRPS”. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Well again, I think that is partly a matter for legal 

submission that as a planner I would not agree with that supposition. 

 25 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, thank you very much.  Just moving on to the potential 

change mechanisms in the future, take yourself forward post this 

hearing and these decisions, and after the LURP review has been 

announced, the planning mechanisms for rezoning this land, you would 

agree that they would require a change to the LURP, then a change to 30 

the RPS and then a change to the District Plan.  That would be the 

order to get this rezoning in place? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Potentially, although there is no reason why the change to 

the RPS and change to the District Plan could not run concurrently and 35 

have a joint hearing at the end of it. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you, yes, that was my second question, you anticipated 

that.  So that could be done together? 

 40 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Right, thank you.  I now want to take you, and this is my 

second to last question, we have been provided this document by Ms 

Silcock this morning, 24 September 2015, a review of the Land Use 45 

Recovery Plan, a submission, recommendations from the Regional 
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Council.  Do we have that available?  Is there a copy that the witness 

could see?   

 

MS SILCOCK:   No, unfortunately sir it has not, but it is available on 

Environment Canterbury’s webpage. 5 

 

SJH:   Well presumably Mr Thomson, you would be familiar with the 

document, are you? 

 

MR THOMSON:   I would like to see it in front of me I think. 10 

 

SJH:   All right. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So could you, I have just had a quick skim of this myself.  

Could you go to page 17 of that document? 15 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And under the top of the page you will see 11.1 changes to 

greenfield priority area land? 20 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Could you read out paragraph 92? 

 25 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, “As there is likely to be sufficient greenfield land that 

is or will become available for development to meet demand in greater 

Christchurch for the next 10 to 15 years it is not necessary for recovery 

to identify any further land as greenfield priority areas”. 

 30 

MR DAYSH:   Do you agree with that statement? 

 

MR THOMSON:   At a top level I would but there is a bigger story to that 

around land availability and land supply.  At the moment there are a 

large number of sections that are available and certainly the Council in 35 

its monitoring of the situation is happy that the LURP targets will be 

met. 

 

 As far as vacant land goes, yes, I consider that there is enough at a top 

level but it is not distributed evenly, there are constraints on 40 

development of some areas and I think it needs to be carefully 

monitored because, for example it is no secret the Highfield, which is 

2,000-odd dwellings isn’t going to go anywhere very quickly.  So, yes, 

at a general level I would agree with it but there are caveats. 

 45 
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MR DAYSH:   Right, so the Highfield example is that the main one or there is 

a range of others? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Well, there are some areas around the city which have 

fragmented ownership, they are going to take a wee bit longer to 5 

develop and to get a good outline plan in place.  There is one or two 

others that I am aware of where there have been hold ups because of 

that issue and because of financial issues but I would agree with the 

statement at a top level. 

 10 

  [10.55 am] 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, that is helpful. 

 

MR THOMSON:   And I cover that in the section 32 report. 15 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, I know, yes, thank you.  My last question relates to the 

decision on the strategic directions part of the plan so this is 3.37, 

objective 3.37, so perhaps could we find that and bring it up?   

 20 

 So it is really and I think Mr Chapman has asked you some questions 

about these urban areas and urban limits, so 3.37C. 

 

 So you would agree that both 1 and 2 have to be met to meet the 

objective, there is an “and” after 1? 25 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So even if you are within an existing urban area or surrounded 

by existing urban areas you will also need to be identified in map A to 30 

meet this objective, is that how you read that? 

 

MR THOMSON:   I don’t think that is how it is intended because not all 

existing urban areas are in greenfield priority areas.   

 35 

MR DAYSH:   So you don’t agree that there is a need to provide for urban 

activities within existing urban areas, you think that is an “or”, meant to 

be an “or”? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Well, they’re quite possibly.  My understanding of the 40 

intent would be that only in existing urban areas it may well be an “or” 

may clarify that. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And how would you define existing urban areas, is that by the 

urban zoning in the district plan as notified? 45 
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MR THOMSON:   No, existing urban areas are defined on map A. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Map A, all right, okay so it is a bit circular.  All right, thank 

you very much. 

 5 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions. 

 

SJH:   Mr Thomson, were you involved in residential 2, I am trying to 10 

remember? 

 

MR THOMSON:   No. 

 

SJH:   But you will be aware there were a number of submitters seeking to be 15 

rezoned in various residential categories? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   And for a number of those the Council took the same approach it has 20 

here of supporting them on the merits? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Would it be fair to say that the decision maker in looking at an area such 25 

as this or those ones that were raised in residential 2 would have to look 

holistically over the whole city about the supply of land and the need 

and such like? 

 

MR THOMSON:  I believe it should, sir, to get an understanding of the 30 

cumulative effects and the holistic situation that would be my 

preference. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Anything arising, Mr Chapman? 

 35 

MR CHAPMAN:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, sir. 40 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Thomson, you may stand down.  Yes, Ms Scott, 

Mr Wright I think. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.59 am] 45 
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MS SCOTT:   Yes, sir, Mr Wright. 
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<TIMOTHY JOHN WRIGHT, affirmed [10.59 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [11.00 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Good morning, your full name is Timothy John Wright? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes, that is correct. 5 

 

MS SCOTT:   You have prepared two statements of evidence for this hearing, 

the first dated 10 December 2015, the second in rebuttal dated 

21 December 2015? 

 10 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MS SCOTT:   You are a director of QTP Limited and your qualifications 

include a master’s degree in civil engineering from the University of 

Nottingham and the other qualifications are set out in 1.2 of your 15 

evidence? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:  Do you have any corrections you wish to make to either 20 

statement? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes, I do have some minor corrections to make. 

 

MS SCOTT:   If you could outline them for the Panel please. 25 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes.  Okay, I have a couple of minor corrections to my 

evidence, the first is in to my evidence-in-chief.  Chapters 7.2, 

paragraph 7.2 sorry, I will just find that. 

 30 

SJH:   Page? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes, the page is coming. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Page 10, sir. 35 

 

SJH:   10, thank you. 

 

MR WRIGHT:  Page 10.  So 7.2 towards the fifth line, I would delete 

“undeveloped areas” and replace that with “developments”.  I can 40 

provide some explanation to this if required.  A similar change at 

paragraph 9.3, page number just coming. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Page 18, sir. 

 45 

MR WRIGHT:   Page 18. 
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SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MR WRIGHT:   “Undeveloped areas” again becomes “developments”.  And 

rebuttal statement - - - 5 

 

MS SCOTT:   Sorry, that is in the sixth line, sir. 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Sorry. 

 10 

SJH:   And in the rebuttal? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   In the rebuttal at paragraph 3.5 on page 3 the third sentence on 

the fifth line starts “The cycle lane through to Cranford Street” that 

whole sentence is to be deleted.  So “The cycle lane through to 15 

Cranford Street”. 

  

MR DAYSH:   Can you just repeat the paragraph again? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Sure.  So we are on page 3, 3.5, we are on the fifth line down 20 

and it is the sentence that starts with “The cycle lane through to 

Cranford Street”.  That is the end of the corrections, thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, Mr Wright, with those corrections can you confirm 

your evidence is true and correct? 25 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes, I can. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  If you could present your highlights package to the 

Panel and then remain seated for questions. 30 

 

MR WRIGHT:  I have been engaged by Council to provide evidence on 

transport issues in relation to site specific rezoning submissions that are 

located within the Cranford Basin.  In my view the key principles of 

good transport planning relate to providing high levels of multimodal 35 

accessibility and careful management of the road network to allow each 

road to fulfil its intended function as part of an integrated transport 

network.   

 

 These principles are reflected within the AUSTROADS range of guides 40 

- these are the transport planning and traffic engineering industry 

standard in New Zealand - the transport and subdivision provisions 

within the RDP and the PRDP and within the New Zealand Transport 

Agency’s One Network Road Classification. In principle I am 

supportive of the rezoning sought by all three submission areas being 45 

the Grassmere block, the Case and Crozier sites.  This is because infill 
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development or urban consolidations offers greater opportunities for 

more sustainable modes of transport such as walking, cycling and 

public transport and also results in reduced distances travelled by car 

with associated benefits to the environment and the economy compared 

to more sparse development patterns. 5 

 

 For the Grassmere block, comprising 400 households at the maximum 

development potential under a residential suburban zoning, I have 

identified a transport network as now reflected in CCC’s draft ODP 

that provides high levels of accessibility and manages access to the 10 

surrounding arterial road network such that the potential adverse 

transport effects of this relatively large development are minimised. 

 

 The relatively small Croziers and Case areas adjoin providing for 

around 30 households and 10 households respectively.  In my evidence 15 

I have considered matters of integration between the two sites.  Such 

principles of integrated transport planning are reflected in the Council’s 

proposed objectives and policies for subdivision, development and 

earthworks objectives 8.1.3, policies 8.1.2.6 and 8.1.3.2.   

 20 

  [11.05 am] 

 

 Now, I will just pause at that moment to explain something else.  I was 

made aware of the decisions document last night on the subdivisions 

chapter, which I was handed this morning, and throughout my evidence 25 

I have referred to some policies and objectives within those chapters.  

The wording of those three, the one objective and the two policies that I 

have referred to, is still very similar and the intent is the same but there 

is a change to one of the policy numbers but it would be rather tedious 

to go through the whole document but the intent is the same.  And that 30 

is why I have just referred here now in this summary that I am referring 

specifically to the subdivision objectives 8.1.3, 8.1.2.6 and 8.1.3.2 

rather than as referred to within my evidence. 

 

SJH:   Thank you 35 

 

MR WRIGHT:  So they seek to provide a legible, well connected and highly 

walkable comprehensive movement network.  In this regard I consider 

that an integrated transport outcome would be a multimodal road 

connection between the Crozier and Case sites and that each site is 40 

accessible for pedestrians and cyclists between the adjacent existing 

residential areas to each site being from Croziers Road and Frome 

Place. 

 

 The principal vehicular access to the Crozier site proposed by the 45 

submitter is through an extension to Croziers Road, a local road serving 
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the adjacent residential community. I consider this an appropriate 

means of vehicular access but that this multimodal access should be 

extended south through the adjacent Case site in order to provide a 

well-connected walking and cycle network between the two sites and 

between each site and the existing adjacent residential areas afforded 5 

via Frome Place. 

 

 Plans submitted as part of the Case submission and Mr Braithwaite’s 

evidence are for up to 10 properties to be served via a proposed right of 

way providing access from Cranford Street and a secondary access via 10 

the relatively narrow, approximately three metres, driveway from the 

head of the Frome Place cul-de-sac.  I do not support this proposed 

access arrangement for two main reasons.   

 

 First, I do not consider that a dedicated access from a major arterial for 15 

just 10 households reflects the intent of the RDP chapter 7 objective 1 

and policy 1 which seeks to support the safe and efficient operation of 

the transport network and minimise effects from access on network 

efficiency.  This intent of minimising the access in favour of preserving 

the efficiency of the major arterial is reflected within the 20 

AUSTROADS guides, part 4 table 4.2, the NZTA’s One Network Road 

Classification appendix 3. 

 

 In addition to the interruption of smooth traffic flow on the major 

arterial the access would introduce an additional conflict point for 25 

cyclists and pedestrians particularly if designed with acceleration and 

deceleration lanes as advised by Mr Carr.  In my view better transport 

outcomes would be achieved through consolidation of the access to the 

Case site with the McFaddens Road intersection serving the adjacent 

residential area achieved through providing access from the adjacent 30 

local roads. 

 

 Second, such an access arrangement would not provide multimodal 

modal integration between the Case and Crozier areas as sought by the 

PRDP objectives and policies for subdivision - sorry, that is now RDP 35 

objectives and policies for subdivision, development and earthworks.   

 

 In my view better transport outcomes would be achieved in terms of 

multimodal integration and accessibility for both the Case and Crozier 

sites if the proposed access road serving the Crozier area were extended 40 

south to the Case site.   

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Hughes-Johnson? 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Thank you, sir.  45 
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SJH:   Thank you. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR HUGHES-JOHNSON [11.09 am] 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Mr Wright, your evidence casts doubt of course 5 

on the appropriateness of access to Cranford Street as suggested by 

Mr Carr but your overall  position is that you don’t oppose the rezoning 

in relation to transport matters in principle? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   That is correct. 10 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON: And I take it that you are accepting that 

transportation is not a show stopper so to speak in terms of the rezoning 

by dint of what you have said? 

 15 

MR WRIGHT:   It is not a show stopper.  No, in terms of transport issues, yes, 

the land could be rezoned and I would be supportive of that. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:  And you would expect at this stage in any 

rezoning that there would be the contemplation of further consultations, 20 

further investigations to refine and try and come up with an agreed 

position as to access in the first instance and if that wasn’t possible, 

well, then those further investigations would assist in determining how 

access was to be achieved, that is right, isn’t it? 

 25 

  [11.10 am] 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:  Now, if I could just ask you to look at your 30 

rebuttal evidence, paragraph 3.4 of your rebuttal evidence.   

 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Two-thirds of the way down that paragraph you 35 

set out that your modelling shows that there would be significant delays 

for side road traffic emerging from the Case family site, you can see 

that there? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Sorry, 3.4? 40 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:  Yes.  “Intersection modelling indicates that are 

likely to be significant delays”, this is in your rebuttal evidence. 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Sorry, yes, a third of the way down paragraph 3.4. 45 

 



 Page 32 

  

Ch14&17: Cranford Basin Commenced 13.01.16 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Two-thirds of the way down. 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Two-thirds, right. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Have you got it there? 5 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Now, you refer to appendix D and I would ask 

you to refer to that again now, that is on page 3 of appendix D, would 10 

you refer to paragraph 3.1 of that appendix. 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes, I have that. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON: The Case and the Crozier land has been considered 15 

together, hasn’t it? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:  And the Crozier land represents not quite 20 

90 percent but in terms of households a much more significant 

proportion of the overall households than the Case family land? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Sure, yes, I need to clarify that previous response.  When we 

say the Case and Crozier land has been considered together, they were 25 

considered together in terms of the area-wide modelling originally 

conducted which isn’t part of appendix D.  Appendix D that you are 

referring to now is specifically the intersection modelling which did 

consider just the Case access being the Case land being accessed from 

the right of way. 30 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   From the right of way? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Onto Cranford Street, yes. 

 35 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   On Cranford Street, right, okay.  Now, if you look 

at paragraph 5.3.9 of that appendix as well. 

 

MR WRIGHT:   There isn’t a 5.3 unless I have got the wrong D. 

 40 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   5.3.9, it is on page 21. 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Right, appendix D was specific or intended to be specific to 

the SIDRA modelling was a relatively short appendix of four pages 

length, no? 45 
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MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Well, this is the continuation of that document I 

have just referred you to.  I referred you to paragraph 3.1 and this is 

paragraph 5.3.9, it is a continuation of that document I believe. 

 

MR WRIGHT:   So attachment D that referring to is, would you agree the title 5 

of that is the “QTP file note on Cranford Street Case access intersection 

modelling”?  

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Well this is a memorandum to Mr Thomson, from 

you. 10 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Right. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Dated the 1st of December and it is attachment D 

to your evidence, well the evidence I have got anyway.  It is a QTP 15 

report, it has got QTP at the top of it. 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes, I have three attachments, it is possible - - - 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Well have you got the paragraph 5.3.9? 20 

 

MR WRIGHT:   I have in a different attachment, I will check.   

 

SJH:   Attachment D is only a three-page document, is it not? 

 25 

MR WRIGHT:   That was my thoughts on it.  I am not sure how this mix up is 

occurring, I am not sure what we have.  Sorry, could you inch up the 

screen I can see the reference at the bottom, just inch it up, there we go.  

1 of 24.  And sorry, could we come back to the top of that? 

 30 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   That is right, that is the correct version. 

 

MR WRIGHT:   1st of December.  Right, that is the 1st of December memo 

which should be appendix B, I believe.  Yes, appendix B. 

 35 

SJH:   Well the appendix B I have got is dated the 2nd of April.  Can you help 

us with your evidence, Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Sir, I have it in the version in front of me at attachment D as 

well.  I think the questions relate to the 1st of December memorandum 40 

from Mr Wright to Mr Thomson which is up on the screen at the 

moment. 

 

  [11.15 am] 

 45 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes. 
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SJH:   Yes, but what attachment is it? 

 

MS SCOTT:   If you just go up one page please, so attachment D - - - 

 5 

SJH:   I am trying to work it out in my hard copy evidence. 

 

MR WRIGHT:   So in the hard copy evidence, the introduction - - - 

 

SJH:   Attachment A in the hard copy, the memorandum. 10 

 

MR WRIGHT:   It should be attachment D. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   The first yellow D. 

 15 

SJH:   And B is the one dated 2 April.  What one are you referring to, Mr 

Hughes-Johnson? 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   The 1 December my one is and it is the one that 

was on the screen, 5.3.9. 20 

 

MR WRIGHT:   So there has been a mix-up in the PDF. 

 

SJH:   So that is attachment A? 

 25 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   In the hard copy. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Well I wonder, sir, if I can just simply proceed 30 

(INDISTINCT 2.47) 

 

SJH:   Yes, no, no. 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes, that is fine, yes.  It is intended as attachment B, sorry. 35 

 

SJH:   Trying to sort out our bundle of evidence, that is all.  So it is the one 

underneath the two aerial photographs. 

 

MR WRIGHT:   And we need to go back a step as well with the previous 40 

questioning because - - -  

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Attachment B (INDISTINCT 3.10) 

 

MR WRIGHT: - - - I was responding to that being appendix D on the 45 

(INDISTINCT 3.14) model. 
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MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   So it is attachment B and we are now looking at 

paragraph 5.3.9 and I am asking a question about that. 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes. 5 

 

SJH:   So it is page 21 of 24 and it comes immediately after two photographs, 

5.1 and 5.2, is that correct? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes. 10 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Now there you state that (INDISTINCT 3.35). 

 

SJH:   I am sorry, Mr Hughes-Johnson, was that correct? 

 15 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Because that is our attachment A in what we have got. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Well it is now attachment B as I understand it, 20 

correctly.   

 

SJH:   Not in our evidence which is the formal record, but it does not matter.  It 

is the memorandum of 1 December. 

 25 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   That is right and it is that document which is up 

on the screen.  Now, you state in that paragraph the drivers turning left 

into and out of the Case land would impede through traffic on Cranford 

Street, do you see that at the beginning of 5.3.9? 

 30 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes, I do. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   It is true, is it not, that you have not carried out 

any specific analysis to quantify what those delays are? 

 35 

MR WRIGHT:   No, that is correct. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Right.  And the extent of those delays could be 

critical could it not, obviously in terms of analysing either the effect of 

this access or the cumulative effect.  Do you agree with that?  It must 40 

follow, mustn’t it? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   The effect would be critical but the analysis of that effect is 

not necessarily critical.  That would be my view. 

 45 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   But it has not been carried out, has it? 
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MR WRIGHT:   No, it has not, no. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Mr Carr says in his evidence at paragraph 7.6 that 

there are about 20 accesses already located onto Cranford Street to the 5 

south.  And of course vehicles emerging from those access points will 

need to enter Cranford Street.  And that is going to impede traffic, is it 

not? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes it is. 10 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Right.  Drivers also would need to slow down, 

would they not, to negotiate the proposed roundabout towards the north 

west, and that also would be an element which would introduce delay, 

is that right? 15 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Only in the outbound direction from the city.  Southbound 

towards the city, which would be the relevant direction for 

consideration a left-in, left-out access, the roundabout for the Cranford 

Street upgrade northern arterial extension is designed with a bypass in 20 

the southbound direction so it has two through lanes designed with a 

design speed of 80 km/hour towards the city. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   All right well are you aware that it is proposed to 

signalise the intersection of Cranford Street and McFaddens Road 25 

towards the south of the Case land? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   No, I am not. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   I think you are, are you not? 30 

 

MR WRIGHT:   I will concede it is something I had not specifically picked up 

on.  I had actually assumed it was – the design is changing frequently 

and it is not a project I have actually been actively involved in but I do 

have some recent plans provided to me so I can just consult those for a 35 

minute if I may to see what the recent plans show. 

 

  [11.20 am] 

 

 It is very difficult to tell from the plans, it looks like it is not a 40 

signalised intersection, it looks like a staggered pedestrian crossing is 

now proposed on the west side of the intersection.  From the layout I 

can see, it is cut right through the intersection unfortunately. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Well if the evidence was that there was a proposal 45 

to signalise that intersection there would be further delays introduced 



 Page 37 

  

Ch14&17: Cranford Basin Commenced 13.01.16 

would there not?  Probably about 30 or 40 seconds would it not, each 

cycle, for a motorist? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   It depends very much on the cycle time imposed and the 

priority given to the conflicting movements. 5 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   There are significant further delays that are 

produced out of it if that signalisation is installed? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Sorry, what is the question being asked for me?  That the - - - 10 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   The question is, I put it to you that you should 

accept that there will be further delays in traffic moving along Cranford 

Street if those signals are installed? 

 15 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes, it looks like a staggered pedestrian crossing is installed, 

yes. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   And just going back there are numerous other 

driveways as I have discussed with you, to the south, you have 20 

accepted that. 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   And in those cases a number of the vehicles using 25 

those access points will be backing out, will they not, onto Cranford 

Street?  They have to back out. 

 

MR WRIGHT:   I have seen that comment made in the evidence of Mr Carr 

about the need to reverse.  I have not actually studied each of the 30 

properties to see if they have been.  District Council plans of course 

require turning space to be provided so it should not, I am not actually 

sure for each of those properties whether it is a requirement to reverse 

out onto Cranford Street or not. 

 35 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   So you do not know whether they do in practise 

reverse out or not, is that the position? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   That is the position, I do not know if they do in practise. 

 40 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   But you do know, do you not, that in relation to 

the proposal here, that the proposal is that vehicles from the Case 

family land would drive out frontwards, in other words they would only 

drive in a forwards direction, in other words there would be no question 

of backing out there? 45 
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MR WRIGHT:   Yes, that is correct, under the left in, left out intersection. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   And that is a much safer situation obviously than 

backing out into Cranford Street is it not? 

 5 

MR WRIGHT:   It is, but you have to consider also the context of the precise 

locations that each of these things are occurring.  If I can expand on 

that, as I referred to earlier the Northern Arterial basically is a 100 

kilometre per hour road which transitions into a 50 kilometre per hour 

environment as we are almost at the location of the site access as 10 

proposed in the latest designs.  That southbound bypass has a design 

speed of 80 kilometres per hour, and at the moment the designs are for 

a 60 kilometre per hour signing from about the roundabout location, 

southbound.   

 15 

 So in practice vehicles will be travelling faster at the proposed site 

location and will be contending with a merge situation from the 

roundabout, the upstream roundabout. As I said earlier it is designed 

with a two lane southbound bypass and it has therefore an offside 

merge over some distance from the roundabout proper. So vehicles will 20 

just have completed their merge, still be travelling, the main 

(INDISTINCT 01.10) will be travelling at some speed I would guess 

in excess of 50 kilometres per hour as it approaches the site location. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   But you are in a far better position to cope with 25 

that when you are driving out frontwards and not backwards? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Correct. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Right.  Lastly, you mentioned in paragraph 3.5 of 30 

your rebuttal where the site access could be designed that 

accommodates pedestrians and cyclists safely.  You are talking about 

the conflict there between pedestrians and cyclists and cars travelling 

along Cranford Street. 

 35 

MR WRIGHT:   That is correct. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Right, now it is true, is it not, that there are a 

number of techniques which can be used to make that situation safer, 

and one such mechanism is the designation of crossing points, is it not? 40 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes it is, yes. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Thank you. 

 45 

  [11.25 am] 
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SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Yes I do have some questions.  Good morning. In 

your paragraph 3.2 you suggest limiting the development of the 5 

Grassmere block prior to the plan Northern Arterial. It is approximately 

between 29 and 30 hectares. Do you have a suggested cut off point with 

respect to development? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   No I do not, that analysis has not been completed, looking at a 10 

threshold or a trigger point prior to the Northern Arterial extension and 

Cranford Street upgrades going in, so I cannot really answer that 

because that analysis has not been undertaken. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you. If the Case and Croziers access was 15 

integrated, as you have suggested, inevitably most of the traffic would 

go down Croziers Road, perhaps some from Frome Place and at least 

some of the traffic would end up entering Cranford Street from 

McFaddens Road, that is correct is it not? 

 20 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes it is.  My intention, sorry, so in relation to that is that the 

Frome Place access would revert to a pedestrian and cycle access only, 

and that the only vehicular access would be from Croziers Road under 

that scenario. 

 25 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Okay thanks. So my question was around the 

McFadden Road connection and I was of the assumption that it would 

become a left in/left out.  It appears it is not going to be traffic lights at 

the moment from what you have just said.  So that would be the case 

when Cranford Street was upgraded you think? 30 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes, I believe that is the case, yes. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you. Do you have a view on the proposed 

formal U-turn mechanism that Mr Carr has suggested with respect to 35 

the design of the Cranford Street upgrade? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes, it is an area that I was debating whether to address in my 

evidence again, where things have moved on since the evidence was 

written.  On 22 December the design that I was just referring to had 40 

reached some – there had been some movement with the design under 

the mediation with the submitters, and so there are now two additional 

U-turn facilities proposed in the latest agreed design for the Cranford 

Street upgrade.  One being at the PlaceMakers entrance and the next 

being further to the west to allow a U-turn for north bound traffic.   45 
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MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So could we see that on a map, would that be in your 

appendix A? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   No.   

 5 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   At 5.3?   

 

MR WRIGHT:   No, I am afraid, that design only came through, I have only 

been made aware of it this side of the holiday break and I understand 

that - - -  10 

 

SJH:   Could you supply it to us after the hearing, through Ms Scott please? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes, yes. 

 15 

SJH:   And to other counsel as well? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes.   

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you, that is all my questions. 20 

 

SJH:  Thank you, Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, just one question.  Can you look at 3.6 of your evidence 

Mr Wright.   25 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes, page 5. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, the bottom of page 5.  So the last three lines, you are 

recommending a rule be adopted.  Are you recommending that we look 30 

at a rule in terms of our decision or what of the plan would you see that 

rule being in, and what would the rule be? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Sure, yes, it is a good question.  The mechanism by which that 

implemented, I understand it could either be direct reference to an ODP 35 

that would indicate such an access.  Or it could be worded to the same 

degree.  So that is yes, I am suggesting that either way, whether that be 

through the mechanism of an ODP or wording that I would suggest that 

a rule be put in place.   

 40 

MR DAYSH:   But your client is not recommending that we adopt a rezoning, 

so are you suggesting something else? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes, in that regard, and going back to the hypothetical, it 

becomes a hypothetical situation should the rezoning proceed. 45 

 



 Page 41 

  

Ch14&17: Cranford Basin Commenced 13.01.16 

  [11.30 am] 

 

MR DAYSH:   But you do not have a rule for us to consider or – it is a 

hypothetical recommendation, that is your evidence? 

 5 

MR WRIGHT:   Yes, yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Anything arising Mr Hughes-Johnson? 10 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   No thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Scott? 

 15 

MS SCOTT:   No sir 

 

SJH:   Thank you Mr Wright, you may stand down.  

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.30 am] 20 

 

SJH:   We’ll take the morning adjournment but just, this is something that 

counsel for submitters might like to address, and if they wish to reserve 

it for closing that is fine as well, but this document, the Regional 

Council’s recommendations to the Minister of the LURP review, which 25 

we only received this morning, at a quick glance at it, at 10.2.2 at page 

15, 78, “the data indicates the supply of land does exceed demand and 

there is likely to be sufficient Greenfield land that is or will become 

available for residential development to meet demand in greater 

Christchurch for the next 10 to 15 years”. 30 

 

 Then at 11.4 at 92 the passage that Mr Daysh referred to, which just 

reiterates that.  And then a 11.2 on the same page, 17, 96, “at this stage 

it is considered that in producing some ability to return to normal RMA 

processes it is necessary to continue to assist earthquake recovery”, 35 

which leads to the recommendation that the map becomes indicative 

rather than what it is at the moment.   

 

 Now, we do not know what the Minister is going to decide and whether 

he will adopt those recommendations, but in terms of a deferred zoning 40 

that is being sought by Mr Chapman, the concern I would have and 

which needs to be addressed is that in Residential 2 we had a large 

number of people that were supported on the merits by the Council, 

that are in the same position as the submitters here.  Mr Thomson has 

accepted and I do not think this would be realistic challenged that one 45 

needs to take a holistic view of the whole city.   
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 It really gets back to why is this any different from all of those others 

outside map A.  And I think in terms of deferral, I am not arguing with 

the merits, it is quite clear on the merits what is considered by the 

Council, but they have considered the same approach in a number of 5 

other areas, which I do not want to go into all the bits in the LURP 

about supporting of intensification, all the things that point towards 

some constraints around development areas.  So that needs to be 

addressed in a deferral. 

 10 

 So we will take an adjournment. 

 

ADJOURNED [11.32 am] 

 

RESUMES [11.50 am] 15 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.  Yes, Ms Silcock? 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you sir.  I have filed some brief legal openings. 

 20 

SJH:   Yes, we have read those. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you sir.  I just wish to reiterate that the Crown supports 

the Council’s position on the zoning of this land and also its position on 

the deferred rezoning. The Crown is also content to abide the Panel’s 25 

decision on the appropriateness of deferring its decision on this matter 

to enable a decision to be made under the LURP review process. 

 

 Sir, in relation to the recommendation report that I handed up this 

morning, I will address that further in closing. They just wanted to 30 

reiterate a point that you made earlier in relation to recommendation, I 

think it is 99 sir, which is that the Minister for Earthquake Recovery 

amend the Land Use Recovery Plan to show the figure 4 on the Land 

Use Recovery Plan to be indicative only, and then to remove appendix 

1 relating to Chapter 6 of the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement. 35 

 

 Sir, if that was the case then as my friend Ms Scott discussed this 

morning, and in response to questions from Commissioner Daysh by 

Mr Thomson that would then require changes to be made to the RPS 

and a separate process would need to be undertaken for that. 40 

 

 And sir, other than that, unless you have any questions those are my 

submissions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 45 
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MR DAYSH:   No questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you Ms Silcock. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you sir. 5 

 

SJH:   Yes, Mr Hughes-Johnson. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Thank you sir. I have some hard copies here, 

bound copies of my submissions, but you may not want them. 10 

 

SJH:   This is dated 12 January, we do have copies. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Thank you.  If anyone does want a copy there is 

copies here.    15 

 

SJH:   And we have read them. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes, well really I suspect that not much is going 

to be achieved if I stand here for 15 minutes, well not 15 minutes, five 20 

minutes and review the merits of the case because it is perfectly clear 

that the real issue in this case is not the merit, it is something else. 

 

 As far as the traffic evidence is concerned sir, which is the only 

possible show stopper so to speak in relation to the Case family land, 25 

you will have noted in my question to Mr Wright to the effect, and he 

accepts I think, if not a show stopper, it is really a process, an ongoing 

process, and some arrangements will be able to be made.   

 

 As far as Frome place is concerned Mr Carr will note when he gives his 30 

evidence that there is an issue as to the extent to which that can be used 

for access.  That has not been fully investigated and it was thought 

proper to bring that to the attention of the Panel.  But again it is not 

really a show stopping issue. 

 35 

 So ultimately you put the merits on one side, subject to your Honour’s 

comments about well allocation and that is a different issue, as to 

whether or not this Panel should say well look, we cannot really do 

anything about this because there is an allocation issue and until we 

have had a proper look at the allocation issue then nobody is going to 40 

get past the post, so to speak. 

 

 My respectful submission is if the position is taken that the LURP and 

the Regional Policy Statement reflecting the LURP does not prevent 

through its alteration, does not prevent the urbanisation of the land in 45 

question then given the Council’s positon that the land is meritorious in 
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terms of urbanisation then the Panel in my respectful submission 

should rezone the land, and leave it to the market to decide as to the 

timing, so to speak, of when that land is ultimately, in practice, 

developed. 

 5 

 Now that brings me to, I do not propose reading anything to do with the 

merits unless your Honour or any of the Commissioners have any 

questions about the merits.  But looking at this question of the Land 

Use Recovery Plan.  First of all I would ask the Panel to ignore 4.5 to 

4.6, that reflected the submissions which have been made previously to 10 

you about a possible way through the Land Use Recovery Plan.  I 

figure the Panel will have to deal with that obviously but I do not 

propose making any submissions about that. 

 

  [11.55 am] 15 

 

 As far as the Land Use Recovery Plan is concerned your Honour just 

before the break referred to the document, which I have had printed 

out, it is so small you need a microscope to read it in my copy, but the 

important point that I think your Honour was making was that the 20 

Canterbury Regional Council is saying well there is sufficient land 

available at the present time to cover the requirements for earthquake 

recovery. But with respect that is only one issue that Environment 

Canterbury has dealt with, because if you look at the document, if you 

look at my page 12 of my submission - - -  25 

 

SJH:   Well no, it goes further than that.  Paragraph 78 said “the data indicates 

the supply of land does exceed demand and there is likely to be 

sufficient Greenfield land that is or will become available for 

residential development to meet demand in greater Christchurch for the 30 

next 10 to 15 years”. 

 

 Qualification around recovery is under 11.1. So dealing with residential 

land it is not limited to recovery residential land, it is residential land 

generally and that it is sufficient for the next 10 to 15 years. 35 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes, all right, well with respect sir is not the 

position there though that the market should really be the vehicle which 

decides on whether land is or is not developed - - - - 

 40 

SJH:   Well you are starting to slide into other areas about the directions around 

intensification for example, the impact of Greenfields development on 

that, the balance between the two, et cetera, et cetera that we have had 

to grapple with in Residential already and made a decision in 

Residential 1 on that. Which all it highlights is that although the 45 

Council supported this on the merits, they have also supported a whole 
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lot of others outside the line, if I can put it that way, on the merits, but 

to make a proper decision on it we would have to look holistically at 

demands, efficiency, infrastructure, a whole heap of things. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   But that, with respect sir, there are two issues.  5 

One is I suppose the question of the requirements of earthquake 

recovery.  The other is just forget about the Land Use Recovery Plan 

and forget about the earthquake, if there was no earthquake and we 

were standing here arguing before a Council panel for the rezoning of 

land the question of the need for that land would be only one factor.  If 10 

the land is suitable then generally speaking the panel would say all 

right, well that is okay, we will rezone it.  Now, we are just rezoned - - 

-  

 

SJH:   And ignore need?  Need has always got to be a factor. 15 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes it is a factor, sir, but if it is, in my respectful 

submission, suitable then the public then has a choice as to whether to 

go to that block or that block or that block, given that they are all 

indicated as being suitable.   20 

 

 Now of course it was critical this morning that Mr Thomson was asked 

fairly thoroughly, questions about the extent to which this had been 

looked into, and I think it was put to him, well gosh, the Council has 

done an awful lot of work on this thing.  And the question was well was 25 

it in the context of how did it fit in with the Land Use Recovery Plan.  

Well whether it fitted in with Land Use Recovery Plan or not the 

Council has done a full analysis of the position and come up with the 

view that this land is suitable for urbanisation. 

 30 

 In my respectful submission leaving aside the land use recovery point, 

which I will deal with very quickly in a minute, all other things being 

equal, the Panel should rezone, in my respectful submission, rezone 

this land, leaving it to the public to decide. 

 35 

 Now there are multiple areas of land which are zoned for a particular 

purpose, which are not used for that purpose because the market has 

not reflected it in being attractive.  In other words not attractive and it 

is not developed.  But that does not, in my - - - 

 40 

SJH:   Well the way this is going at the moment Mr Hughes-Johnson, and I am 

sure you are not intending it to be this, but it is the submission that if 

anyone comes along and says I want to rezone residential I should be 

allowed to and the market will decide whether it gets developed or not. 

 45 
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MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Well no, because of course there are all the issues 

such as, for example, the pressure on wastewater and all this sort of 

thing.  In this case all those issues have been thoroughly investigated - - 

-  

 5 

SJH:   Well you are now going back into the merits, we are not arguing about 

the merits. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Well going back to the Land Use Recovery Plan, 

if I can perhaps just now shift to the Land Use Recovery Plan and in 10 

fact the document which has been the subject of discussion, which is a 

review of the Land Use Recovery Plan presented by the Canterbury 

Regional Council, and your Honour has been referring to it.  Besides 

the comments made about the adequacy of the supply of land at that 

present time, there is a sort of a second thread going through, and that 15 

is that the Canterbury Regional Council is saying “well look, we think 

that this should be indicative only”. 

 

  [12.00 pm] 

 20 

 Now, I go back, because of my advanced age probably, to the time 

when there was a greenbelt area in Christchurch and I recall very 

clearly there were some terrible fights about whether you were inside 

or outside the greenbelt area, and you had some properties where the 

line of the greenbelt area went right through the middle and there was 25 

an issue as to whether or not there was any flexibility, and in that case 

the flexibility dictated that even though it was outside the line, that the 

property came within the area of urbanisation.   

 

 Now, we do not know, of course, and it is speculative, I accept that, as 30 

to what the Minister’s going to do.  But the Minister is being asked to 

indicate that the Land Use Recovery Plan, or the map, is indicative 

only.  Now, if the map is indicative only then there are some strong 

arguments, in my respectful submission, that the sort of development 

we are talking about here, right on the periphery of that line, may well 35 

not infringe the land use recovery plan in that altered form.  We do not 

know, because we do not know what the - - -  

 

SJH:   Well that may be true, but I do not see how that takes it any further for 

us, because there needs to be a change, as you can see, to the RPS 40 

before we can rezone.   

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Well I have recognised, in paragraph 5.9 of my 

submissions, the statutory obligations that this body has to complete its 

obligation within time limits.  Everyone is aware of that.  Also, the 45 
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implication is that really it is not a situation where one can expect an 

interim decision.  There has got to be some finality about matters.   

 

 Now leaving aside the deferred zoning issue, I support my friend, 

Mr Chapman’s, submission to the extent that he is suggesting that there 5 

should be a wait and see period. 

 

SJH:   Well excepting that, but the point is this, isn’t it, as the recommendation 

stands – and it always has the caveat that we don’t know whether the 

Minister will change it and whether it will become more liberal or more 10 

restricted as the case may be. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   But what, at 11.2 where it talks about the map becoming indicative, it is 15 

talking about is the map becomes indicative and you return to normal 

RMA processes once that happens, which means you need to make 

applications.  But I do not see how that - - -  

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Well, yes, it does. 20 

 

SJH:   - - - I do not see how that empowers us now to make some findings? 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Well because the critical issue – everyone in this 

room is caught with the position that the Land Use Recovery 25 

Plan/Canterbury Regional Policy Statement, because of the map, if you 

are not in the right area of the map then that is - - -  

 

SJH:   Well it is the map, but also a lot of the language used in the RPS. 

 30 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes.  But in my respectful submission, if the 

Land Use Recovery Plan changes, then submitters can come back to the 

Panel – let’s just say it changed next Thursday – the submitters can 

come to the Panel, assuming the Panel is given that time, and say “we 

now submit that the development which we are proposing here of this 35 

land is consistent with the Land Use Recovery Plan”. 

 

 Now, you may not agree and the Panel may say, “no, that is not right 

for these reasons”, or “yes, it is right for other reasons”, but that 

opportunity, in my respectful submission, should be given subject to 40 

the Panel’s - - -  

 

SJH:   Well if it does change we cannot control what applications may be made 

to us.   

 45 
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MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   No, but the submissions which are before you 

now have to be deal with in the light of the Land Use Recovery Plan at 

the time of your decision, obviously.  So in other words, if the Land 

Use Recovery Plan three weeks before you issued your decision 

changed, and the map was abolished, well then clearly that would need 5 

to be taken into account.   

 

SJH:   Well that in itself opens another can of worms that we would have to 

invite submissions, we would have to invite submissions on all the 

other chapters as well, et cetera, et cetera.   10 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes.  But with respect, sir, and I mentioned this 

there is a tension, I mentioned the tension in my submissions, I 

acknowledge that, I know that the Body is under huge pressure – and I 

am sorry if I am taking more than 10 minutes, although I think I might 15 

have been allowed 25 – but the point really is this, that this Body is 

under huge time pressure, I accept - - -  

 

  [12.05 pm] 

 20 

SJH:   Well, can we cut to the chase – what are you asking us to do in your 

submission? 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Defer making a final decision until such time, to 

allow a reasonable period, say - - -  25 

 

SJH:   Define a reasonable period for me; give me a cut-off date? 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Well it would have to have reference to the date 

of when this Body is required to give its decision.  I would respectfully 30 

submit, say, another three months on the basis that the submitters here 

– not everyone else – but the submitters here would then have an 

opportunity to make brief submissions in relation to any altered form of 

the LURP.  If the LURP had not been altered then - - -  

 35 

SJH:   So none of the people in Residential 2 who are in exactly the same 

position as your clients, who are outside the line - - -  

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   No, I am talking about - - -  

 40 

SJH:   - - - and the Council came along and said “on the merits we think they 

should be rezoned”. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   No, I am talking about this Cranford Basin 

hearing, the people in other words - - -  45 
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SJH:   But how is that any different from Residential 2? 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Well it is not.  

 

SJH:   That is the point.   5 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   But with respect, the - - -  

 

SJH:   I mean, I do not want to argue this back and forth because it is becoming 

extremely circular and it is our problem to resolve it but it is not a 10 

problem of our making, it is a problem of the way things have been 

drafted. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Well with respect, as far as the submitters are 

concerned it is not their – it is their problem - - -  15 

 

SJH:   Well no.  No, it is not.  It is all – rest assured that a number of submitters 

we have sympathy for in a number of these chapters, but that does not 

mean to say we can necessarily help them. 

 20 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   No.  I have to say, there is an immense measure 

of frustration that, you know, that the link between the City Council, 

whatever it may be, and the Minister has not resulted in the Land Use 

Recovery Plan being changed.  But I really cannot take it much further 

than that.  I think what I am asking for is a breathing space to see 25 

whether it looks as though something - - -  

 

SJH:   You also want us to make a finding on the merits? 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes. 30 

 

SJH:   And bring into place a set of objectives, policies and rules? 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Well no.  Well of course - - -  

 35 

SJH:   Or just simply apply whatever Residential New Neighbourhood I 

presume it would be? 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Well I think if the Panel formed the view that 

notwithstanding any changes the Land Use Recovery Plan prevented 40 

the rezoning, well of course then all you could do as a (INDISTINCT 

2.38) effectively would be to say that, and by the way we should 

observe that we were satisfied that this was otherwise meritorious and 

using Mr Thomson’s sort of analysis that the only stumbling block was 

this, but it is a fundamental stumbling block. 45 
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 Now, I am trying to get over that and - - -  

 

SJH:   It is not a stumbling block at the moment, it is a wall. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Well it is.  It is a wall.  But it may not be an 5 

insuperably high wall if – the Minister may not move in a short enough 

period of time, in which case I cannot do anything about that. 

 

SJH:   So you want us to make a finding that on the merits this rezoning should 

occur? 10 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   And that we defer any final decision for three months? 

 15 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Well I am not anticipating that you will issuing a 

decision now.  I had anticipated that a decision – I am sorry, it is not for 

me to say of course – but I am really asking for the decision to be 

deferred.  In other words, no decision to be made until such time as that 

three months has past and we see whether the Minister has or has not.   20 

 

SJH:   All right. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   I am not suggesting a two stage process.  I really 

cannot take it any further than that, but in my submission that is 25 

consistent with the Order in the sense that it refers to reducing resource 

consent applications, and I have said in here in my application the sort 

of processes that we are going to have to go through if we do not get 

this rezoned now. 

 30 

 Those are my submissions, sir. 

 

SJH:   All right.  Do you have any questions? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes.  I just have a couple of questions, Mr Hughes-Johnson.  In 35 

4.1 of your opening submissions you talk about the Council’s position 

being that unless there’s a change to the RPS - - -  

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   4.1, sorry, I will just – yes. 

 40 

MR DAYSH:   - - - yes, the limits of the urban area as shown on map A are 

unable to be expanded – isn’t that your position too, because you 

signed the mediation statement? 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes.   45 
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MR DAYSH:   All right.  And another questions really on your page 13 above 

your conclusion, I think this follows up from his Honour’s questions, 

you talk about wanting “the actions taken by the Panel could reduce the 

need for submitters” – so those actions are? 

 5 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   I am just trying to find the place there, sir.  In 

5.9? 

 

  [12.10 pm] 

 10 

MR DAYSH:  Yes, so why not specifically mentioned – so it is the second 

paragraph.  So, can you confirm the actions that you think we can take? 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:  Yes, I have got it there, yes.  Yes, that was what 

the point was made to His Honour just a minute ago that the order does 15 

not specifically refer to plan changes.  It refers to reducing reliance 

upon resource consents.  In other words, what’s sustainable?  Get 

things sorted out now so that people don’t later have to go through a 

resource consent process and I just said well, the spirit of that indicates 

that it should apply to plan changes. 20 

 

MR DAYSH:  But also, just following up from a question I gave to Mr 

Thomson, your clients cannot initiate a change to the RPS, can they, 

that’s the key point? – they cannot initiate a change to the RPS which is 

a key issue to move forward. 25 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:  Absolutely, and I am anticipating that immediately 

the LURP is changed, I think the Minister has got the power to direct 

change immediately to the – well, it has – to the Canterbury Regional 

Policy statement so the LURP’s the critical – because, of course, the 30 

LURP was the vehicle for putting what, for reasons we do not like, in 

the Canterbury Regional Policy statement s if the Minister did move in 

a way you would expect it to be reflected in the Canterbury Regional 

Policy statement virtually straight away. 

 35 

MR DAYSH:  All right.  Thank you. 

 

SJH:   All right, Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  No questions, sir. 40 

 

SJH:  Thank you.  Call your witness, Mr Carr, then, thank you. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHSON:  Thank you, I will.  I have, Sir, from Mr Carr a very 

brief summary of his evidence which I ask that I could just hand up. 45 
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SJH:  Yes, thank you very much. 
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<ANDREW DAVID CARR, affirmed [12.13 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR HUGHES-JOHNSON [12.13 pm] 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:  Mr Carr, your full name is Andrew David Carr 

and you have submitted a statement of evidence dated 

15 December 2015? 5 

 

MR CARR:  Yes, that is correct. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:  Would you please read from your summary, that 

document which has been circulated to the Panel, thank you. 10 

 

MR CARR:  So in my evidence I have taken a high level view of the 

submitter’s proposal for rezoning of the land with a particular focus on 

the potential for adverse effects to arise in Cranford Street in terms of 

efficiency or road safety.  I have considered two scenarios, one with the 15 

Cranford Street improvements in place and one without, and I have also 

participate in an expert witness conferencing associated with the case 

submission. 

 

 There is one clarification I would like to highlight in respect of the joint 20 

expert witness statement and it is also reflected in paragraph 7.9 of my 

evidence-in-chief.  

 

 It is not a change to the text, more of a point of clarification and that 

relates to the use of the right of way out of Frome Street.  Now, in my 25 

statement in evidence there is an assumption made that the right of way 

could be used by additional traffic associated with the development of 

the case land as of right.  I have been advised that is not necessarily the 

case.  It is possible that there might be restrictions on the use of the 

right of way by additional parties but I have also been advised that the 30 

matter requires further investigation so it is not settled at this stage. 

 

 In respect of efficiency of the road network and with the view that 

having multiple private driveways serving residential properties on the 

case land could lead to delays for through traffic on Cranford Street as 35 

vehicles turn to and emerge from those properties.  However, a single 

point of access properly designed with display to enable vehicles to 

move out of the through traffic lane before turning into the site would 

not give rise to such delays.   

 40 

 In respect of road safety, the records indicate that the right turn 

movements out of private driveways have given arise to accidents in 

the past and accordingly, I do not support the provision of a layout that 

enables right-turning vehicles to emerge from the case land.  The 

proposed Cranford Street Improvements Scheme addresses this in that 45 

the presence of a raised median on the road precludes such movements.  
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However, if the Improvement Scheme was not progressed, then in my 

view, it would be necessary to implement measures on Cranford Street 

to prevent the movement.  As a minimum, this would include carriage 

re-widening, the extension of the existing flush median and the 

conversion of at least part of this into a raised median with associated 5 

U-turning facilities so essentially what it would mean is Mr Case would 

have to construct part of the Cranford Street Improvement Scheme and 

duplicate that.  If those measures were not implemented, then in my 

view a direct access onto Cranford Street would not achieve objective 1 

in policies 1 and 3 of the PRDP and instead the submitter’s land should 10 

be served by the local roads. 

 

  [12.15 pm] 

 

 Having reviewed Mr Wright’s evidence-in-chief and rebuttal statement, 15 

I consider the differences between them as very fine and then the 

number of areas we are in agreement the primary points of contention 

are, to my mind, the extent to which any delay, however slight or 

discernible to drivers, is acceptable on Cranford Street as a result of a 

site access and if so, whether a suitable intersection layout can be 20 

provided.   

 

 With the Cranford Street improvements in place, approaching drivers 

who will have just slowed for a roundabout are about to encounter a 

300 metre section of road with around 20 private driveways followed 25 

by a set of traffic signals beyond which are numerous other private 

driveways. 

 

 Now, Mr Wright, this morning, highlighted that actually the Scheme is 

still fluid.  I have certainly seen plans which show that intersection to 30 

be signalised, the McFaddens/Cranford intersection.  Mr Wright’s 

information is that it potentially is not going to be signalised but 

nevertheless, the point still stands that vehicles travelling in that 

direction will have encountered numerous sources of delay prior to 

getting to that point so I consider that suitably designed access to serve 35 

the case land would not result in perceptible delays to through traffic.   

 

 In terms of the layout of the access intersection, I remain of the view 

that a suitable arrangement could be devised that would operate safely 

and efficiently for all road users including for through traffic on 40 

Cranford Street. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Mr Carr, you are to be cross-examined, would 

you just stay there please and answer any questions. 

 45 
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<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [12.18 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, good afternoon, Mr Carr. 

 

MR CARR:   Good afternoon. 5 

 

MS SCOTT:   Just in my questions when I refer to roading works, I am 

referring to the designated works for the upgrade of the arterial, the 

extension in Cranford Street. 

 10 

 I just first, to confirm some agreed matters, yourself and Mr Wright are 

confirmed in agreement that a Residential Suburban zoning for the 

Case Family land should not go ahead without completion of the 

roading works, is that correct? 

 15 

MR CARR:   Either without completion of the roading works or with the Case 

development company, whatever that might be, being responsible for 

putting in place measures that effectively replicate what is proposed 

through the Cranford Street improvement.  It should not go ahead 

simply by sticking an access in there and hoping for the best.   20 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, thank you, and also in agreement is that no further direct 

access to new allotments should be provided between the Case Family 

land and Cranford Street? 

 25 

MR CARR:   That is right, private driveways which would result in multiple 

turning movements to and from the Case land should not, in my view, 

be permitted. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And those outcomes would not be consistent with the one 30 

objective and two policies you have listed in your evidence in the 

Transport chapter? 

 

MR CARR:  That is correct, yes. 

 35 

MS SCOTT:  Okay, in terms of integrated transport planning, you have listed 

the one objective in two policies, that is Objective 1, Integrated 

Transport System for Christchurch District; Policy 1, Establishment of 

a Road Classification System and Policy 3, Vehicle Access and 

Manoeuvring, they are from Chapter 7 of the Replacement District 40 

Plan. 

 

 If you can just confirm that they are the one objective and two policies 

you have considered in reaching your conclusions? 

 45 

MR CARR:   Yes, they are section 3.5 of my evidence-in-chief. 
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MS SCOTT:   And the proposed plan also has highly relevant policies and 

objectives in relation to subdivision integration and connectivity that 

are not considered in your evidence, do you agree with that? 

 5 

MR CARR:  I just have not turned my mind to subdivision because of that 

being a separate process to the rezoning process. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, but those provisions require that new neighbourhoods are 

comprehensively planned with multimodal connections within a 10 

development and surrounding areas. 

 

MR CARR:   I certainly do not see any reason why development of the Case 

land, with or without an access to Cranford Street, would differ in that 

regard when it comes to considering the subdivision.  I am not 15 

advocating a sole access onto Cranford Street full stop, I am simply 

saying that at this stage there is nothing to preclude an access onto 

Cranford Street and I would certainly support the potential linkage 

through to Frome Place, and I would certainly support making 

provision for the route through to Croziers, although it is very difficult 20 

to force two landowners to actually cooperate or to join forces to get an 

outcome. 

 

  [12.20 pm] 

 25 

MS SCOTT:   And in terms of your support of that link between the Case and 

Crozier land, have you considered the impact of the rezoning of the 

Crozier land to Residential Suburban in terms of the possible use of the 

use between Case and Cranford Street?  Have you taken an analysis of 

that? 30 

 

MR CARR:   My analysis is at a high level, so I have not gone into details of 

modelling them in that regard, and as I understand it there is no 

certainty that that link would be formed, it very much depends upon the 

willing seller/willing buyer type of arrangement.   35 

 

 Multiple landowners working together works well in my experience 

when they are voluntarily working together.  I have not come across a 

circumstance where a council has directed landowners to work together 

which has resulted in a willing seller/willing buyer. 40 

 

MS SCOTT:   In terms of the safety of the access between Case and Cranford 

Street, your assessment only relates to the possible subdivision of nine 

extra allotments of the Case land does it not? 

 45 

MR CARR:   The assessment at the high level, yes it does. 
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MS SCOTT:   And you have not considered the additional allotments that 

would be allowed through the rezoning of the Crozier land as well? 

 

MR CARR:   I have not considered it in terms of a general modelling type of 5 

background.  Mr Rice (ph 1.44) has talked about his modelling in his 

appendices, I have not done any modelling associated with this 

proposal. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  In terms of the access design you conclude, and I 10 

am referring to paragraph 8.1 of your evidence, acceleration and 

deceleration lanes or splays are a requirement for the proposed access 

to be consistent with the chapter 7 objectives and policies.  Is that 

correct? 

 15 

MR CARR:   Yes, if it was simply a standard driveway where vehicles slowed 

down within the live traffic lane then that would impede through 

traffic.  Conversely, a provision of a lane which enables vehicles to 

move to one side and away from the through traffic means that through 

traffic is not delayed. 20 

 

MS SCOTT:   And is your evidence that that arrangement would eliminate 

delays to through traffic on Cranford Street? 

 

MR CARR:   I am saying that there is an arrangement that would eliminated 25 

through traffic delays.  You can see evidence of that in a number of 

locations.  It very much depends upon the detail of the design that was 

put in place and it also then depends upon whether the Council will be 

willing to accept a slightly different arrangement which did reintroduce 

a small level of delay.   30 

 

MS SCOTT:   Your evidence, and this is at paragraph 5.3 where you discuss 

the elimination of delays to through traffic, is silent on the effect on 

pedestrians.  Is it your view that an access designed in this way would 

have negative effects on the safety and amenity of pedestrians on 35 

Cranford Street? 

 

MR CARR:   Yes, provided that – and also cyclists, as Mr Wright has pointed 

out – both cyclists and pedestrians can be accommodated in those kind 

of circumstances provided that the design recognises that from the 40 

outset and specific provisions are made for that. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And what of cyclists who are transitioning from the proposed 

Cranford Street off road cycle way to the on road lanes, have you 

considered the effects on cyclists in your evidence? 45 
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MR CARR:   I think I have just answered the question but I am happy to do it 

again.  Yes cyclists are considered.  The way you deal to cyclists when 

you have a diverge lane like that, it used to be the case that the cyclist 

simply went along the main line, the main through traffic lane.  That 

does expose them to traffic which is turning into that slip lane.  5 

Whereas now the tendency is that you divert the cycle lane along the 

slip lane a little bit and then the cyclists cross at 90 degrees, so they do 

not have that level of exposure. 

 

 I am certainly not advocating a deceleration lane and just leave it at 10 

that.  You would need to specifically include within the design the 

provision for pedestrians and cyclists. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Have you considered the neighbouring driveway in terms of this 

possible design as to whether it is actually practical in the space 15 

available? 

 

MR CARR:   That would depend upon the location of the access to the Case 

land and also the ultimate configuration of what Cranford Street would 

look like.  In my view there is an arrangement in there that would 20 

operate satisfactorily, but I certainly accept that it would not be 

possible to design that until the design of the Cranford Street 

Improvement Scheme has been finalised. 

 

  [12.25 pm] 25 

 

MS SCOTT:   And there has been no suggestion of moving the existing right of 

way for the Case family land, has there? 

 

MR CARR:   I would anticipate that if the land was rezoned then access 30 

matters would be looked at through the subdivision consent.  And I 

would anticipate that that would also look at whether the existing right 

of ways are in the right place, and whether moving it would provide a 

superior outcome. 

 35 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, just one final topic.  Chapter 7, objective 1 refers to 

an integrated transport system for Christchurch district, sub clause 5, 

that is managed using the one network approach.  You would agree 

with me that the principal of a hierarchical approach to through traffic 

function to a road versus access is fundamental in transport planning 40 

practice? 

 

MR CARR:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And Cranford Street through this plan review has been promoted 45 

to major arterial status, it was minor atrial in the city plan? 
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MR CARR:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And that further promotes its efficiency/function over 

access/function, to the top rung? 5 

 

MR CARR:   Yes, in that context access is usually taken to mean direct access 

to property rather than the implementation of the arrangement that I am 

discussing here of having one access in multiple properties.   

 10 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, given this national approach to managing the road 

network that of course forms part of objective 1 of chapter 7, do you 

consider that a separate access from Cranford Street, classified as a 

national or possibly a regional road under the one network approach to 

serve less than 10 houses is consistent with that classification given as 15 

ability or there is an alternative to service that site? 

 

MR CARR:   I think it is consistent with that.  I think it is inconsistent to have 

direct driveways, but I think it is entirely consistent to have a 

consolidated access to several properties, especially in the view of the 20 

access through the Frome Place and to the connectivity, that is talked 

about within the one network approach.  And the potential access albeit 

a little less certain to Croziers towards the north. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And that view is based just on the Case family being rezoned, 25 

you are not considering the Croziers land when you come to that 

conclusion? 

 

MR CARR:   I have focused on the Case submission, yes. 

 30 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, no further questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   The questions around the signals on McFaddens 35 

Road as being part of the upgrade of Cranford Street, if that happened 

would that allow a right hand turn? 

 

MR CARR:   If it was signalised I would anticipate that it will be full turning 

movements that would be permitted in that location. 40 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you.  So in paragraph 5.3 you discuss a single 

access onto Cranford and some limited access from Frome Place. 

 

MR CARR:   Mr Wright suggests integrating the Case and Crozier property 45 

and allowing the local roading network to do its job.  From a traffic 
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planning perspective which of these would you think would be the 

better outcome? 

 

MR CARR:   I think the difficulty is that we do not have the final scheme 

design for Cranford Street, so we are not sure quite what is happening 5 

at McFaddens Road.  As I understand it, it is still being looked through 

and the final designs are being produced.   

 

 In terms of the optimum outcome, generally the optimum outcome for 

any sort of subdivision is to have at least two points of access in case of 10 

roadworks or an accident or something like that.  And in terms of the 

operation of those accesses if you like, if Frome Place is limited then 

the two points of access will be Cranford Street and from Croziers 

Road.    

 15 

 I am not sure if that answers the questions. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   I was looking at the two alternatives.  One alternative 

is to have - - -  

 20 

MR CARR:   I do not think there is anything between them in my view.  One 

loads traffic onto the local roading network.  If you were to 

hypothetically eliminate any access onto Cranford Street you would 

have more through traffic on the local roads to the north.  Local roads 

are intended not to provide for through traffic, they are intended to 25 

provide for local property access functions, and you would have further 

turning vehicles at McFaddens/Cranford Street. 

 

  [12.30 pm] 

 30 

 The volumes involved would probably not be sufficient to result in any 

significant effect on net efficiency or capacity of that intersection, but 

there would be potentially an amenity effect for residents in that area if 

they have more vehicles going past their front door. 

 35 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you.  No more questions.   

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   No questions, sir.   40 

 

SJH:   Anything arising, Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, thank you, sir.   

 45 

SJH:   Mr Hughes-Johnson? 
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MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Sir, I am sorry, I should have asked Mr Carr at 

the beginning whether he had any alterations or corrections to errors in 

the evidence.  Is there anything that - - -  

 5 

MR CARR:   No, there is nothing there.   

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   There is just one final matter, sir, and that is that 

the issue of deferred zoning has been raised by other submitters, I 

haven’t raised it – I just wish to have leave to refer to that in closing 10 

submissions, having considered that position. 

 

SJH:   Of course.  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr Carr, you may stand down.   

 

MR CARR:   Thank you, sir.   15 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.32 pm] 

 

SJH:   Now, Ms Steven? 

 20 

MS STEVEN:   Yes, we are almost close to the lunch adjournment.  I do have 

my witness here – we are at 12.33 pm.   

 

SJH:   Well, I think we will continue till we finish to be honest.   

 25 

MS STEVEN:   Continue till we are finished? 

 

SJH:   Yes. 

 

MS STEVEN:   All right.  Okay. 30 

 

SJH:   Because I think we can finish before 1.00 pm. 

 

MS STEVEN:   Yes. 

 35 

SJH:   Just before you open, you filed a memo saying you - - -  

 

MS STEVEN:   I was not going to do an opening. 

 

SJH:   No, before you go to the opening I said. 40 

 

MS STEVEN:   Yes, I was not going to do an opening, I was just going to do a 

closing. 

 

SJH:   No, well you do not have to.  You can deal with it in closing.  I just want 45 

to - - -  
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MS STEVEN:   Yes, I want to do it in closing, but I want to - - -  

 

SJH:   I just want to tidy something up before that, if I may? 

 5 

MS STEVEN:   Yes? 

 

SJH:   You filed a memorandum saying your client intended to adopt the 

evidence of Mr Thomson, Ms O’Brien, Ms Webb, Mr Douglas, Mr 

Wright and Mr Dixon? 10 

 

MS STEVEN:   That is correct.   

 

SJH:   Just for the record, can you confirm that your client does adopt that 

evidence? 15 

 

MS STEVEN:   Yes, I can confirm that.   

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 20 

MS STEVEN:   I forgot to make that point. 

 

SJH:   Right, thank you.  Now over to you. 

 

MS STEVEN:   And I have got one witness as well in addition to that.  In my 25 

closing I am going to be addressing the Panel on the deferred zoning, 

because the Grassmere residents are the only submitters that sought that 

as relief, not that that matters in terms of a scope issue if the Panel is 

minded to consider that in other cases.   

 30 

 I will reflect on – I had already written my closing, which I was 

intending to file, but I will reflect on the exchange this morning and the 

indications from your Honour.   

 

 I could probably indicate to you now - - -  35 

 

SJH:   Well concerns rather than - - -  

 

MS STEVEN:   Concerns, that is right.  The second preferred relief would have 

been to request an adjournment of the Panel’s consideration in the same 40 

way that my friend for the Cases has done, in the order of three months 

because really that is the only indication we have of a likely timeframe 

for the Minister’s consideration.   

 

 I possibly differ a little from my friend, Mr Hughes-Johnson in the 45 

sense that I consider that there are two changes that would be required 
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to be made to the higher order statutory instruments in order to pave the 

way for a rezoning, but I would anticipate that they would go hand in 

hand.   

 

 The first one is – and it is not the most important one but it is probably 5 

the vehicle for the second change – and that is the Minister’s review of 

the LURP, and so there would need to be a change to the LURP in two 

senses, firstly an amendment to figure 4 which is similar to map A 

essentially, and that is in the body of the LURP, and that would need to 

be amended in the manner sought by the Council by describing them as 10 

“indicative only”.   

 

 And there would also need to be an amendment to appendix 1.  

Appendix 1 is the means by which the directions made by the Minister 

under section 24 of the Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Act are to be 15 

given effect to.  The LURP contains those directions and it is 

essentially a direction to Canterbury Regional Council to amend the 

Canterbury Regional Policy Statement by including appendix 1 which 

is new chapter 6.  And that was one of a number of directions that were 

contained in that LURP.  And so the LURP was the vehicle by which 20 

chapter 6 was inserted into it.   

 

SJH:   Just as a matter of timing that you are talking about three months, that is 

the only indication we have which is correct, but when the Minister 

issued his directions in terms of appendix 1, how long did it take from 25 

there to actually change the RPS and bring it into effect? 

 

  [12.35 pm] 

 

MS STEVEN:   Well I was going to come to that.  I think it had to be done 30 

immediately.  It had to be done in summary form, avoiding the 

schedule 1 process under the RMA.   

 

SJH:   Okay.   

 35 

MS STEVEN:   And it had immediate effect irrespective of the actual timing of 

that amendment.   

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 40 

MS STEVEN:   And that is the more important statutory document because the 

statutory test in relation to an RPS is more stringent in the sense that a 

district plan has to give effect to a Regional Policy Statement whereas 

the statutory test under the Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Act in 

relation to a recovery plan is that decision making under the RMA is 45 

not to be inconsistent with the Recovery Plan. 
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 But I would see that those two changes would happen contemporaneously, 

and that is in fact what the submitters have sought.   

 

 I acknowledge that the recommendations made by Environment 5 

Canterbury are for there to be no changes, other than for the change in 

relation to figure 4 in the Land Use Recovery Plan, to enable flexibility 

so that Environment Canterbury can initiate changes to its Regional 

Policy Statement. 

 10 

 And I am not quite sure what the Minister’s decision making process is, 

whether he has regard to submissions or commissions his own report 

and review of those submissions, I just simply am not privy to that 

information.  So it is really speculation, at this point, as to what the 

Minister might do and whether he would feel bound by the 15 

recommendations of the Council.   

 

 I prefer to leave everything else until my closing submissions. 

 

SJH:   That is fine, thank you.   20 

 

MS STEVEN:   So I would now call my witness, Mr John Stewart Mitchell. 
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<JOHN STEWART MITCHELL, sworn [12.38 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS STEVEN [12.38 pm] 

 

MS STEVEN:   Thank you.  Can you confirm that your full name is John 

Stewart Mitchell? 

 5 

MR MITCHELL:   It is. 

 

MS STEVEN:   And that you own and reside at a property situated at 31 

Grassmere Street. 

 10 

MR MITCHELL:   I do.   

 

MS STEVEN:   And that you have prepared a statement of evidence that is 

dated 16 December 2015, comprising eight pages and four annexures? 

 15 

MR MITCHELL:   I have. 

 

MS STEVEN:   And that you can confirm that the content of that evidence is 

true and accurate to the best of your knowledge? 

 20 

MR MITCHELL:   It is.   

 

MS STEVEN:   Now I understand that the evidence has been pre-circulated 

and pre-read, but you would like to just very briefly present a summary 

of that evidence? 25 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Exactly. 

 

MS STEVEN:   If you could just present that summary, and then remain to 

answer questions, thank you. 30 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Thank you, and thank you for the opportunity to summarise 

the evidence.  It is, of course, on behalf of the Residents Group of 

which I am a member, so I understand it has been taken as read, or is to 

be taken as read, but there are a few points I would like to briefly 35 

elaborate on.   

 

 The evidence is clearly in two parts.  Firstly, I have listed 12 examples 

of the difficulties and frustrations we have with living in this land.  

These are clearly set out in the statement of evidence and are very real, 40 

and ultimately if the situation continues will become untenable either 

from an environmental or economic, or both, point of view.   

 

 I emphasise, we are not the same as other parcels of land on the 

periphery of the city.  We are in fact surrounded; the city has been 45 

allowed to grow around us. 

 

 Secondly, the planning process itself, and its associated cost that we 

have had to endure over the past seven or eight years.  Again, as you 

can clearly see from the evidence, the various planning processes 50 
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promulgated by ECan, CERA and the Council have had us inside the 

line, then outside, then back in again, and then finally outside.   

 

 From my own discussions, it seems to me that everybody from the 

Minister down seems to recognise the anomalous situation we now find 5 

ourselves in.  Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS STEVEN:   Thank you. 10 

 

SJH:   Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions. 

 15 

SJH:   Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   No, I have no questions, sir. 

 

  [12.40 pm] 20 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Mitchell, we have read your evidence and as I indicated 

earlier we understand where you are at but it is really the limitations on 

us that we will have to grapple with. 

 25 

MR MITCHELL:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS STEVEN:   Yes, well short of closing I am not sure what the Panel had in 30 

mine in terms of closing.  You would prefer that the parties file closing 

submissions? 

 

SJH:   We will give you time and I will come to the timetable after we have 

heard from the next counsel so you may stand down now, Mr Mitchell, 35 

thank you, and we will come to you, Mr Chapman.  

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.41 pm] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Very good, sir, so my submissions have been filed, I do not 40 

intend to read through those.  I want to just comment on some matters 

that counsel have been discussing with you this morning.  The first 

issue is just on a very minor merits issue for a moment on the traffic 

issues that have been affecting the Case land, from my client’s 

perspective too I think I could record that there is no issue.   45 
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 It is recorded in the mediation statement that the Croziers would make 

land available for an access for the Case land were that required.  It 

would require, obviously, for that land to be purchased by the Cases for 

the purposes of access, but there is otherwise no impediment.   

 5 

 The second point that I want to just canvas with you relates to the 

strategic directions chapter and whether there is consistency with that 

in terms of my client’s position and particularly in relation to 3.3.7(c) 

which has caused me to mull on the wording there quite considerably in 

terms of what it actually means, in terms of when we are dealing with 10 

land that is clearly not on the urban periphery. 

 

 So the wording seems unclear with the word “and” and that it has got to 

be both urban, existing urban areas and it has got to be on greenfield 

land on the periphery of Christchurch and I think the point has been 15 

made before that would lead to a very small area of land coming within 

that framework so I cannot give any particular meaning to 3.3.7(c) 

because it is simply very unclear.  

 

SJH:   For myself I think it is an error and I think it should read “all” but I 20 

better not commit the rest of the Panel without discussing it.  It is 

something that is on our list with a tidy up. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   If I were to give a meaning to that and what I think the 

overall meaning of it was, is that to reflect a concern about the 25 

extension of further urban areas on the periphery of the land, it is not 

just greenfield land, it is greenfields on the periphery. 

 

SJH:   Well I think it is trying to reflect the RPS. 

 30 

MR CHAPMAN:   Pardon me, sir? 

 

SJH:   I think it is simply trying to reflect what the RPS says and I think we 

probably used “and” incorrectly so it is an either/or but as I say I cannot 

bind the other four members of the Panel. 35 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   So you have then posed the question prior to the morning 

adjournment as, counsel, think about the flood gates argument, we have 

already heard residential arguments about extensions on the periphery, 

how can we deal with that issue? 40 

 

 And I say that there are two issues which arise directly from my 

client’s land is that I do not accept in terms of the questions put to 

Mr Thomson – and I think he answered it – that he also does not regard 

the this land is on the periphery, the urban periphery of Christchurch.  45 

It is a ring-fenced block of land that has got the line around it that is 
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accepted, but it is not on the periphery so that is the first point in terms 

of how this land can be differentiated. 

 

  [12.45 pm] 

 5 

 I then come back to the second point which is in relation to the 

deferment, the issue of deferment and I was not involved in terms of 

the other residential chapter but I simply make the point that if you do 

not ask, you do not get, and in this case there has been a request for a 

deferment, I do not know whether that was made in the residential 10 

chapter but in my submission for the point that I am going to come to 

in a moment it is a legitimate tool that can be used and it has been 

requested with respect to this particular Cranford Basin hearing. 

  

 Just while I am on that deferment, I know that the Panel has challenged 15 

us to say “Why should we wait?  We are under no obligation to wait; 

we need to make our decision.”  I accept that is the position, sir, but I 

do also accept the position that you are striving for what is a better 

outcome for planning in Christchurch. 

 20 

 And given the evidence given by Mr Thomson this morning about the 

processes that would need to be followed, were the RPS amended to 

allow a window for this land to be rezoned, in my submission it is a 

better outcome to wait and try and make that decision in this process 

rather than to subject these landowners, my clients in particular, to the 25 

processes that would be involved. 

 

SJH:   Well these and all other landowners are in the same position. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   I am only trying to address the better outcome at this point.  30 

I think it simply gets to a better outcome overall in terms of the city’s 

planning process. 

 

 Just dealing with issues about consistency with the RPS, I again in 

dealing with the issue of a deferred zoning I cannot see in the RPS any 35 

control on planning methodology.  I fully accept that it is inconsistent 

with the activity status provided in the RPS but it seems to me that 

given that it is a higher level document it does not try to restrict a 

Council’s methodology in terms of how it might give effect to be 

inconsistent with the RPS and in my submission there is no suggestion 40 

that a deferred status is inconsistent with the RPS and no suggestion 

that it would someway undermine the current zoning objectives and 

policies to which the land would be subject to until the deferment were 

lifted. 

 45 
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SJH:   Just to play the devil’s advocate for a minute, there would have to be a 

certain trigger point, wouldn’t there? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes, and I think that Ms Steven adequately described what 

I perceive as the whole methodology going through it, in terms of the 5 

trigger point. 

 

SJH:   Well what would be your trigger point, because if the document that we 

have seen is simply given effect to and whether that is likely or 

unlikely none of us have any idea and given the history I think it will 10 

not change is probably optimistic as well, but assuming it remains the 

same, if the map is changed to indicative does that not simply mean 

you would then have your RMA rights to make application?  And you 

might like to deal with this in closing because I see Ms Steven already 

disagrees with the devil’s advocate’s question. 15 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   I probably - - - 

 

SJH:   Well the first point of this, you would accept there would have to be a 

certain trigger point? 20 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   I absolutely accept that and I think that this - - - 

 

SJH:   So there could be no argument about what the trigger was?  It could not 

simply be - - - 25 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   It has to be a change to the RPS through the process - - - 

 

SJH:   But it cannot simply just be a change to the RPS, it has got to be that we 

are clear about.  What change?  Simply making the map indicative or 30 

more than that? 

 

  [12.50 pm] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Given that you have been hearing arguments on the merits, 35 

it is accepted that in terms of getting to the end of this process for these 

landowners there may need to be a rules package or an Outline 

Development Plan floated in terms of a new Residential zoning - - -  

 

SJH:   No, you are jumping a wee bit ahead of me. 40 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Okay, well - - - 

 

SJH:   Just to come back.  If the only change is, figure 4 I think it is, map A, 

whatever we want to call it, if the only change is that it becomes 45 
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indicative are you saying that is all that is needed to trigger a deferred 

zoning, or would more be needed?  And if it is more what is the more? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   No, I am saying that that is all that is needed.  And I am 

saying on the basis, I know there is this issue about roading, but at least 5 

from my client’s perspective there are no other impediments on the 

merits, I think it is common ground. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 10 

MR CHAPMAN:   And I know that we cannot forecast that process but at least 

historically it happened swiftly, it became operative immediately as a 

result of the way the LURP recommendations were incorporated into 

the RPS.  I submit that that is likely to happen again. 

 15 

 The last issue is the one that you have pointed to the report that has 

gone to the Minister in relation to what changes may be forecast, and 

you have highlighted issues particularly relating to Greenfield areas, in 

paragraphs, I think 78 and 92. 

 20 

 And I differentiate the Cranford Basin land again from the statements 

made in that report. In my submission Greenfield land, at least in 

Strategic Directions is referred to as periphery land, and I simply say 

that we are not in that case.  And the particular paragraphs in the report, 

in my submission do not contemplate that the minister would not 25 

provide a degree of relief some way, either through making the line 

indicative or some other change to the line, with respect to this land 

that is ring fenced around Cranford Basin. 

 

 In my submission it is not in the same camp as Greenfield is used in 30 

that report. 

 

 Finally, I would just like to emphasise that in my submissions I did try 

and be practical with this hearing to try and give some options for this 

hearing, either by waiting or deferment, and I stand by the fact that 35 

both of those options are available to you to give practical relief to my 

clients and others. 

 

SJH:   Thank you Mr Chapman, Mr Daysh any questions? 

 40 

MR DAYSH:   The only question I have, Mr Chapman, is that authority 

examples of where a deferment trigger relates to a higher level 

document being changed. You know, certainly there is quite an unusual 

trigger point, I am aware of deferments being triggered by 

infrastructure upgrades or something else, so that is quite, it is a 45 
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proposition that I have never seen before in my planning practice so 

that is something that you could perhaps point to? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   I do not think anyone is arguing that it is within the toolkit 

of planners to be able to adopt.  You are saying that it might not have 5 

been used before or is it - - - 

 

SJH:   Or are you aware of any - - -  

 

MR DAYSH:   Any authority or examples? 10 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Look, I have come back from holiday rather swiftly, 

prepared these submissions, I have not had the opportunity to look 

around but I will do and I will raise that in closing with you. 

 15 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Illingsworth. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions. 20 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you Mr Chapman.  Now timetabling closing 

submissions for submitters, Wednesday of next week, is that sufficient 

time?  It is a week? 

 25 

  [12.55 pm] 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   I am sorry, sir, I have a further hearing on next 

Monday which would make it slightly difficult.  I wondered whether 

the end of the week would be possible? 30 

 

SJH:   All right, well we will make it Friday of next week, and then the 

following Friday for the Council’s response.  Is that acceptable? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you sir. 35 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Very good sir.  

 

SJH:   Al right, thank you all very much for your submissions and the one big 

issue, there is the elephant in the room and it is a difficult one to 40 

grapple with and we look forward to the help you may be able to give 

us in your closings, thank you, and we will adjourn this hearing. 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 12.56 PM ACCORDINGLY 


